
1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Salford Civic Centre 

SWINTON 
 
 

MEETING OF COUNCIL 
 
 
 
 
Dear City Mayor and Councillors, 
 
You are invited to attend the Meeting of Council to be held as follows for the 
transaction of the business indicated: - 
 
DATE: Wednesday, 17 March 2021 
 
TIME:  9.30 am 
 
PLACE: Microsoft Teams Meeting 
 
Councillors are requested to ensure that their electronic equipment is on silent 

during Council meetings. Approval is given to officers and councillors to use 

social media during the business of council, subject to the protocol and social 

media policy. 

 

 
A G E N D A 

 
 

1   Any announcements or special business (including the 
submission of any urgent business) introduced by the 
Chair.  
 

 

2   Apologies for absence  
 

 

3   Declaration of Interests  
 
Disclosure by Members of “Disclosable Pecuniary Interests” 

 

Public Document Pack



2 
 

(as defined by The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interests) Regulations 2012), and Members’ “Personal 
Interests” in accordance with paragraph 12.1 of Salford City 
Council’s Code of Conduct for Members.    
 

 9.40 AM  
 

 

4   Minutes of meetings held on 20 January (Ordinary), 20 
January (Mayoral Installation) and 24 February (Budget) 
2021.  
 

(Pages 1 - 26) 

 9.45 AM  
 

 

5   Receipt of Petitions/Communications  
 

 

 9.50 AM  
 

 

6   Retiring Elected Members - Presentations  
 
Presentations to Councillor Derek Antrobus, Councillor Jillian 
Collinson, Councillor Richard Critchley, Councillor Laura 
Edwards, Councillor Stephen Hesling, Councillor David Jolley, 
Councillor Charlie McIntyre, Councillor Brendan Ryan, 
Councillor Michael Wheeler and Councillor Ronald Wilson, all 
of whom are retiring as elected members and not standing in 
the forthcoming May Local Elections, in recognition of their 
contribution to the City Council and the residents of Salford. 
 

 

 10.10 AM  
 

 

7   Nomination for Office of Ceremonial Mayor 2021/22  
 

(Pages 27 - 28) 

8   Nomination for Office of Deputy Ceremonial Mayor 2021/22  
 

(Pages 29 - 30) 

9   Appointment of Independent Person for Salford City 
Council  
 

(Pages 31 - 34) 

10   Appointment of an Electoral Registration Officer and 
Returning Officers and Associated Electoral Matters  
 

(Pages 35 - 42) 

 10.15 AM  
 

 

11   Pay Policy Statement 2021/22  
 

(Pages 43 - 60) 

 10.20 AM  
 

 

12   Place for Everyone: A Proposed Joint Development Plan 
of Nine Greater Manchester Districts  
 

(Pages 61 - 72) 

 10.30 AM   



3 
 

 
13   Notice of Motion  

 
Cladding on Buildings 
 
To be moved by Councillor Ann-Marie Humphreys and 
seconded by the City Mayor 
 
This City Council notes that: 
 
1.0 despite nearly four years passing since the fire at Grenfell 
Tower on the 14th June 2017, which tragically claimed 72 
people’s lives and injured more than 70 people, the fire at 
Grenfell Tower further uncovered the growing industrial and 
regulatory scandal in the built environment across England; 
  
1.1 thousands of Salford residents are still living in buildings, 
and that number continues to rise, including disabled people 
who face compounding difficulties including lack of specific 
support for their needs, additional financial pressures, and the 
potential exacerbation of health conditions;  
 
1.2 thousands of private leaseholders in Salford are paying 
inflated insurance and service charge costs to cover the on-
going costs of waking watches, often running into hundreds of 
pounds every month, and will soon be faced with demands for 
tens of thousands of pounds more to remedy the fire safety 
defects. Moreover, they are unable even to sell or re-mortgage 
their defective properties because of a broken EWS1 process 
and mortgage lenders un-willingness to lend on them;  
 
1.3 every year the housebuilders responsible for these 
defective properties bank billions in profits and pay out millions 
in dividends to shareholders, with The Independent also 
reporting back in June of last year that since Boris Johnson 
became Prime Minister the Conservative Party has received 
more than £11 million in donations from property developersi 
and The Times more recently highlighting that property 
developers who built flats covered in dangerous cladding have 
donated £2.5 million to the Conservative Party since the tragic 
fire at Grenfell Tower in 2017ii. 
 
1.4 the Government has provided no funding to correct fire 
safety defects that are not related to cladding systems or in 
buildings less than 18 metres tall and the £15 billion expected 
cost of all remediations as highlighted by the Homes, 
Communities and Local Government Committee in summer 
last year, is almost three times the £5 billion designated to 
rectify the industrial and regulatory crisis so far. 
 

 



4 
 

1.5 the Government has also cut the City Council’s overall core 
funding from central government by 53% since 2010/11, 
reducing the City Council’s overall local authority spending 
power and forcing authorities to raise council tax and precepts 
in order to maintain vital services such as enforcing building 
regulations. Salford City Council alone has lost over £222 
million in cuts and un-funded budget pressures since 2010/11. 
 
1.6 the on-going work of the Greater Manchester High-Rise 
Taskforce chaired by the Mayor of Salford and the work of the 
End Our Cladding Scandal campaign, which has brought 
together local campaigns, including Manchester Cladiators 
from across the country and proposed a Ten Step action planiii 
to support residents in Salford and address the industrial and 
regulatory crisis swiftly and comprehensively across the whole 
of England. 
  
This City Council believes that: 
 
2.0 the industrial and regulatory crisis is a scandal that 
punishes leaseholders and residents of Salford for systemic 
problems with building safety regulations and methods of 
development in England; 
 
2.1 this has had and continues to have a cruel effect on Salford 
resident’s mental health, leaving them in unsafe homes and 
facing life-changing bills; 
 
2.2 it is grossly unjust that residents who bought homes in 
good faith should face remediation costs; 
 
2.3 the Government’s Building Safety Fund is inadequate both 
in scope and amount, failing to protect all leaseholders from 
costs as requirements for remediation are accelerated;       
 
2.4 the Government must right broken promises, return to the 
original premise that no costs should be passed onto 
residents/leaseholders, abandon the loan schemes and two-
tiered system for financial support recently announced by the 
Government, and act quickly; 
 
2.5 a viable route to remediation is for payment nationally to fall 
on the building industry coupled with a ‘pay now, litigate later’ 
approach as recently developed by the Australian Labour Party 
State Government in Victoria; 
 
2.6 developers who delivered dangerous and unsafe buildings 
due to negligence and poor workmanship should remediate this 
work rather than expecting residents/leaseholders to pay;  
 



5 
 

2.7 we support the End Our Cladding Scandal campaign and 
endorse their Ten Step action plan which recognises that the 
knock-on effects mean that the industrial and regulatory crisis 
will not be resolved building by building, leaseholder by 
leaseholder. 
 
This City Council resolves to: 
 
3.0 thank the Greater Manchester High-Rise Taskforce, End 
Our Cladding Scandal campaign and Manchester Cladiators for 
their efforts in fighting this injustice, and to continue supporting 
them in their work and their campaigning; 
 
3.1 continue supporting the End our Cladding Scandal 
campaign’s 10-step plan to tackle this crisis, calling on the 
Government to endorse and implement 10-step plan in order to 
make safe all buildings - regardless of height or specific fire 
safety defects in order to protect residents and give them the 
peace of mind they are rightly entitled to;  
 
3.2 call on the Government to provide the necessary funding in 
order to protect all innocent residents/leaseholders caught up 
in the industrial and regulatory crisis from ruinous costs that 
threaten bankruptcy or homelessness through a ‘pay now, 
litigate later’ approach as recently developed by the Australian 
Labour Party State Government in Victoria; 
 
3.3 ask the Chief Executive of Salford City Council to write to 
the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government to 
ask Government to accede to those asks articulated in End our 
Cladding Scandal campaign’s 10-step plan; 
 
3.4 continue providing practical support to affected Salford 
residents/leaseholders, including asking the Planning 
Department to prioritise applications for fire-related remediation 
work, asking the Lead Members for Housing and Planning & 
Sustainable Development to continue to work with local groups 
and help affected Salford residents/leaseholders; 
 
3.5 continue acting inclusively on this issue, including actively 
involving affected disabled people, raising awareness of their 
specific issues and campaigning; 
 
3.6 ask the Lead Members for Housing and Planning & 
Sustainable Development to work alongside Salford’s Members 
of Parliament to develop a ‘Salford Ask’ outlining the funding 
required to remediate affected buildings in our city, saving 
Salford residents/leaseholders from hardship, un-fair costs and 
worse consequences. 
 



6 
 

(see footnote below providing links to supporting 
information/articles) 
 

 10.50 AM  
 

 

14   Statement of the Elected City Mayor  
 

 

 INTERVAL 11.10 AM  
 

 

 Please note in relation to items 15, 16, 17 and 18 below, it is 
requested that, wherever possible, any questions are 
submitted in writing and e-mailed to the Democratic Services 
Section at decisionmakingandscrutiny@salford.gov.uk  
by no later than 48 hours before the meeting (i.e. by 9.30 am 
on Monday, 15 March 2021). 
 

 

 11.20 AM  
 

 

15   General Questions or Comments to the Elected City Mayor  
 

 

 11.40 AM  
 

 

16   General Questions or Comments to Cabinet Members on 
the discharge of responsibilities within their portfolios  
 

 Cllr Tracy Kelly - Statutory Deputy City Mayor and Lead 
Member for Housing   

 Cllr John Merry - Deputy City Mayor, Lead Member for  
Children’s and Young People’s Services and delegated  
functions for Planning and Sustainable Development 

 Cllr Paula Boshell - Lead Member for Anti-Poverty, 
Neighbourhoods, Financial Inclusion and Equalities   

 Cllr Bill Hinds - Lead Member for Finance and Support 
Services (including Workforce and Industrial Relations)  

 Cllr David Lancaster - Lead Member for Environment  
            and Community Safety 

 Cllr Gina Reynolds - Lead Member for Adult Services,  
Health and Wellbeing 

 

 

 12.10 PM  
 

 

17   General Questions or Comments to Chairs of Scrutiny 
Panels  
 

 Cllr David Jolley - Overview and Scrutiny Board 

 Cllr Adrian Brocklehurst - Children’s Scrutiny Panel 

 Cllr Tanya Burch - Community and Neighbourhoods 
Scrutiny Panel 

 Cllr Margaret Morris - Health and Social Care Scrutiny 

 

mailto:decisionmakingandscrutiny@salford.gov.uk


7 
 

Panel  

 Cllr Robert Sharpe - Growth and Prosperity Scrutiny Panel  
 

 12.20 PM  
 

 

18   General Questions or Comments on the discharge of 
functions of Joint Authorities and Outside Bodies  
 

 

19   Scheduled Reports from Board Members  
 
The following reports are submitted for information with the 
intention they be noted. Members who have any questions, or 
require further information on the contents of these reports, are 
in the first instance advised to contact the representatives 
respectively indicated: 
 

 Booth Charities (City Mayor, Cllrs Lancaster, Burch and 
Joan Walsh) 

 The Landing at MediaCityUK Limited (City Mayor and 
Cllr Kelly) 

 
 

(Pages 73 - 102) 

 SCHEDULED FINISH 12.30 PM  
 

 



8 
 

 

Notes for Elected Members and Members of the Public 
 
(a) Addressing the Ceremonial Mayor during Council Meetings  

 
During Council meetings the City Mayor, Elected Members, Officers and members of 
the public shall address the Ceremonial Mayor as “Chair” when speaking at the 
Council meeting.  

 
(b) Points of Order and Personal Explanations 
 
a) If a Member or Officer stands on a point of order or to give a personal 
explanation: 
 

 the Member shall be heard immediately, and 

 any Member or Officer speaking shall sit down. 
 
b) A point of order shall relate only to an alleged irregularity in the constitution or 
conduct of the meeting, and the Member or Officer shall immediately give details of the 
allegation (if possible, identifying any Standing Order or statute considered to have 
been broken). 
 
c) A personal explanation shall only be to clear a misunderstanding of something 
said by the Member or Officer.  
 
a) The ruling of the Chair on a point of order or a personal explanation shall be at 
his or her discretion. 
 
 
In accordance with ‘The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014’, 
the press and public have the right to film, video, photograph or record this meeting. 
 

 
 

Sian Roxborough 
Monitoring Officer  

                                            
1 https://www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/politics/tory-party-property-developer-boris-johnson-
conservative-donors-a9588381.html 
 
2 https://www.thetimes.co.uk/article/builders-grenfell-cladding-give-tories-2-5m-5c9gwvhrb 
 
3 https://www.insidehousing.co.uk/news/news/end-our-cladding-scandal-campaign-relaunches-
with-10-step-plan-to-tackle-mounting-crisis-68020 
 

https://www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/politics/tory-party-property-developer-boris-johnson-conservative-donors-a9588381.html
https://www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/politics/tory-party-property-developer-boris-johnson-conservative-donors-a9588381.html
https://www.thetimes.co.uk/article/builders-grenfell-cladding-give-tories-2-5m-5c9gwvhrb
https://www.insidehousing.co.uk/news/news/end-our-cladding-scandal-campaign-relaunches-with-10-step-plan-to-tackle-mounting-crisis-68020
https://www.insidehousing.co.uk/news/news/end-our-cladding-scandal-campaign-relaunches-with-10-step-plan-to-tackle-mounting-crisis-68020


SALFORD CITY COUNCIL 
 

 20 January, 2021 
 
 Meeting commenced:   9.30 a.m.   
        “         adjourned:  11.20 a.m.  
        “     re-convened:  11.30 a.m.   
        “               ended:  12:40 a.m.                                                                                                                                                                                 
                                                                                                    
 
PRESENT: Councillor Charlie McIntyre - Ceremonial Mayor and Chair 
 
  Mr Paul Dennett - City Mayor 

   
Councillors Derek Antrobus, Sharmina August, Damian Bailey, Michele 
Barnes, Barbara Bentham, Paula Boshell, Adrian Brocklehurst, Joshua 
Brooks, Tanya Burch, Jim Cammell, Bob Clarke, Stephen Coen, Jillian 
Collinson, Richard Critchley, Jim Dawson, Stuart Dickman, Laura 
Edwards, Heather Fletcher, Karen Garrido, Robin Garrido, Darren 
Goulden, Jane Hamilton, Stephen Hesling, Bill Hinds, Ann-Marie 
Humphreys, David Jolley, Roger Jones, Jim King, David Lancaster, Ari 
Leitner, Kate Lewis, Sophia Linden, Mike McCusker, Ray Mashiter John 
Merry, Lewis Nelson, Wilson Nkurunziza, Mike Pevitt, Gina Reynolds, 
Neil Reynolds, Brendan Ryan, Arnold Saunders, Les Turner, Madeline 
Wade, Ray Walker, Joan Walsh, John Walsh, Darren Ward, John 
Warmisham, Colette Weir and Ronnie Wilson.  

 
 

52. ANNOUNCEMENTS AND SPECIAL BUSINESS 
 
 There were no announcements or special business.  

 
53. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Samantha Bellamy, 
Tracy Kelly, Margaret Morris, John Mullen, Barry Warner and Michael Wheeler.  
 

54.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
  
 There were no declarations of interest. 
 
55. MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS 

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 18th November 2020 were approved as correct 
record. 

 
56. RECEIPT OF PETITIONS/COMMUNICATIONS 

 
It was indicated Councillor John Mullen had submitted a petition on behalf of Barton 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



residents in support of an Asset of Community Value (ACV) application for the bowling 
green to the rear of the Rock public house, Peel Green Road, Barton.  
 

57. MEMBERSHIP OF COMMITTEEES AND PANELS 2020/21 
 (Previous Minute 22 - 16 September 2020) 

 
Details were submitted of the following amendments to the memberships of 
committees and panels for the Municipal Year 2020/21  
 

Committee Panel New Member/ 
Amendment  

Replacing 

Standards Committee 

 
Councillor John Walsh 

 
Councillor Tracy Kelly 

 

Councillor Kate Lewis 
 

Councillor John Mullen 

 
Community and 

Neighbourhoods Scrutiny 
Panel  

 

Councillor 
Charlie McIntyre 

Councillor John Mullen 

 
SACRE 

(Standing Advisory 
Council for Religious 

Education) 
 

 
Councillor John Walsh 

 
Councillor John Mullen 

 
RESOLVED: THAT the amendments to the memberships of the panels and 
committees for the remainder of the Municipal Year 2020/21, as detailed above, be 
noted. 
 

58. URGENT KEY DECISIONS   
 

The City Solicitor submitted a report detailing recent key decisions taken in 
accordance with the special urgency powers during the period November 2020 to 
January 2021. 
 
RESOLVED: THAT the report be noted. 

 
59.    AUDIT AND ACCOUNTS COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20 

   
Councillor Robin Garrido, the Chair of the Audit and Accounts Committee submitted a 
report detailing the Committee’s activities during 2019/20. 
 
RESOLVED: THAT the Audit and Accounts Committee Annual Report 2019/20, be 
noted. 

 
 
 

Page 2



60. SALFORD LOCAL PLAN: DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND 
DESIGNATIONS - PROPOSED AND ADDITIONAL MODIFICATIONS 

  
Councillor Mike Mccusker, Executive Support for Planning, Housing and Sustainable 
Development, presented a report on behalf of the Lead Member for Planning and 
Sustainable Development.  
 
Councillor Karen Garrido expressed concerns at the Salford Local Plan, particularly 
the way several greenspace sites in the City had been categorised and in turn she 
believed weakened the protection they received from potential development in the 
future. Councillor Robin Garrido endorsed these comments and suggested the 
methodology for this needed to be reviewed and consequently the Plan deferred for 
consideration.  
 
Councillor Derek Antrobus replied that expert legal advice had been sought in drawing 
up the Plan, particularly in relation to the categorisation of the specific greenspace 
sites which had been referred to, and the Salford Local Plan now presented afforded 
them the strongest protection against any future proposals for development. The City 
Mayor and Councillor John Merry, both echoed and supported these comments.   
 
The Chair of the Council then put the motion to Council when, in accordance with the 
Salford City Council Constitution, Part 4 Rules of Procedure, Section A, Rule 19(iv)  a 
recorded vote was requested by three elected members (including Councillors August, 
Dickman and Edwards) and duly taken: 
 

For (41) 
 

Against (9)  Abstained (1) 

Paul Dennett 
Cllr August 
Cllr Bailey 
Cllr Barnes 

Cllr Bentham 
Cllr Boshell 

Cllr Brocklehurst 
Cllr Brooks 
Cllr Burch 

Cllr Cammell 
Cllr Coen 

Cllr Critchley 
Cllr Dawson 
Cllr Dickman 
Cllr Edwards 
Cllr Fletcher 
Cllr Hamilton 
Cllr Hesling 
Cllr Hinds 

Cllr Humphreys 
Cllr Jolley 
Cllr Jones 
Cllr King 

Cllr Clarke 
Cllr Collinson 

Cllr Karen Garrido 
Cllr Robin Garrido 

Cllr Goulden 
Cllr Leitner 

Cllr Saunders 
Cllr Turner 
Cllr Ward 

Cllr Wilson 

Page 3



Cllr Lancaster 
Cllr Lewis 
Cllr Linden 

Cllr McCusker 
Cllr Mashiter 

Cllr Merry 
Cllr Nelson 

Cllr Nkurunziza 
Cllr Pevitt 

Cllr Gina Reynolds 
Cllr Neil Reynolds 

Cllr Ryan 
Cllr Wade 
Cllr Walker 

Cllr Joan Walsh 
Cllr John Walsh 
Cllr Warmisham 

Cllr Weir 

(For technical reasons, Cllr Derek Antrobus was not present when the vote was taken, 
but subsequently indicated his support for the motion, which is not recorded above, 
nor included in the declared totals detailed below) 
 
Following which, the Senior Democratic Services Officer declared it carried by 41 
votes to 9, with 1 abstention and it was: 
 
RESOLVED: (1) THAT the Publication Salford Local Plan: Development Management 
Policies and Designations Addendum (Proposed Main Modifications and Additional 
Modifications) and the supporting background documents be noted and Cabinet be 
recommended to approve them for publication. 
 
                      (2) THAT the Strategic Director Place be given delegated authority to 
approve any further necessary minor changes to the Publication Salford Local Plan: 
Development Management Policies and Designations following the period for 
representations and before the document is submitted to the Secretary of State for 
independent examination. 
 
                      (3) THAT subject to Cabinet approving the Publication Salford Local 
Plan: Development Management Policies and Designations Addendum (Proposed 
Main Modifications and Additional Modifications) and supporting background 
documents for publication, it be agreed these documents are submitted to the 
Secretary of State for examination (along with, and as an addendum to, the Publication 
Salford Local Plan which was approved in January 2020) following the period for 
representations between 5 February and 19 March 2021.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 4



61. NOTICE OF MOTION  
 

H.M. Government’s Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement and 
Proposed Council Tax and Precept Increases for 2021/22 

 
The City Mayor moved the following motion, which was seconded by Councillor Bill 
Hinds. 
 
This Council notes that:  
 

i. on 25th November 2020, the government set out the outcome of the 
2020 Spending Review, suggesting that core spending power for 
councils in England would increase from £49.0 billion to £51.2 
billion in 2021/22, an estimated 4.5% cash-terms increase and a rise 
on real terms. 

ii. the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government’s 
provisional local government finance settlement 2021/22 supplies 
the detail behind the increase and opens a four week consultation 
between 17th December 2020 and 16th January 2021. 

iii. the data behind the provisional settlement shows that, when the 
government suggested in the 2020 Spending Review an estimated 
4.5% cash-terms increase for councils in England, they are in fact 
assuming that councils in England will increase council tax by 2% 
and the adult social care precept by 3% to raise £1,918.4 billion 
from council tax payers in England in 2021/22. 

iv. consequently within the Ministry of Housing, Communities and 
Local Government’s core spending calculations for councils in 
England, the government contribution element constitutes 
only13% of the overall increase of £2.2billion - so, of the stated 
overall increase of 4.5%, only 0.6% or £292.7million relates to the 
government element. 

v. the government’s 2020 Spending Review and the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government’s provisional local 
government finance settlement 2021/22 set against a backdrop of 
10 years of austerity and local government cuts, which has seen 
Salford City Council face £211 million in cuts to core government 
grant and unfunded budget pressures since 2010/11 and an overall 
reduction in core funding from central government of 53%.    

 
This Council recognises that:  
 

i. the underlying assumptions within consecutive government 
Spending Reviews and the Ministry of Housing, Communities and 
Local Government’s core spending power calculations for councils 
in England has been to force councils in England to increase 
council tax and precepts and passport the costs of any increases 
onto local council taxpayers. 

ii. the government has failed numerous times over a number of years        
           to hit its own deadlines to publish details of care system reforms 

Page 5



           for adults with disabilities and the elderly, which has resulted in the 
           government introducing the Adult Social Care (ASC) precept in 

2016/17, forcing councils in England to consider increasing this 
government introduced precept by 13% between 2016/17 and 
2021/22 with no national funding solution still on the horizon.  

iii. the fair funding review for local government has also been 
           delayed for a second year, with the Ministry of Housing, 
           Communities and Local Government confirming in April 2020 
           that the implementation of the review will not go ahead in 2021/22 
           to allow councils to focus on meeting the immediate public health 
           challenge posed by the pandemic. 
iv. council tax and precept increases are regressive forms of taxation 
           which impact the poorest and lowest paid within our communities 
           the most. 

 
Therefore, this Council calls on H.M. Government to:  
 

i. urgently increase the overall funding provided by the government 

           to all councils in England from the government’s £292.7 million in 

           the core spending power calculations to allow councils in England              

           to mitigate the impact(s) on local council taxpayers. 

ii. urgently resolve the adult social care funding crisis and bring 

           forward proposals to mitigate the impact(s) on local council tax    

           payers. 

iii. make progress with the fair funding review, ensuring that 

           differentials with regards to poverty and inequality and council tax 

           payer’s ability to pay are effectively factored into any future 

           methodology for determining central government grant.   

 
The City Mayor and Councillor Bill Hinds both spoke in favour of the motion. 
 
Councillors Gina Reynolds, Jim Cammell, Madeline Wade, John Merry, Damian 
Bailey, Sharmina August and Laura Edwards all added their own support for the 
motion.  
 
Councillor Les Turner said that, during the current Covid-19 pandemic, it was not the 
right time to submit this motion, nor did it fairly reflect the wider economic 
circumstances and the financial support H.M. Government had given to local 
authorities, including Salford City Council, as a consequence the Conservative group 
would not be supporting it. Councillors Arnold Saunders, Karen Garrido and Ari Leitner 
all echoed these comments. 
 
The City Mayor noted these comments and expressed regret that there was not 
universal support for the motion from all members of the Council. He outlined the 
financial challenges which faced local government, due to both H.M. Government’s 
past and current economic policies, together with the anticipated long-term impact of 
the Covid-19 pandemic, all of which the motion aimed to raise awareness of and 
hopefully address.  

Page 6



 
The Chair of the Council then put the motion to Council, when for purely confirmatory 
purposes a roll call vote was taken, which the Senior Democratic Services Officer 
declared carried (43 votes for and 7 against) and it was: 
 
RESOLVED: THAT the motion, as moved by the City Mayor and detailed above, be 
approved and adopted. 
 

62. GENERAL QUESTIONS AND COMMENTS TO CABINET MEMBERS 
 
Q1. Councillor Karen Garrido asked how many children had been attending Salford 

schools during the current and first national lockdowns. 
 
 Councillor John Merry, Deputy Mayor and Lead Member for Children and Young 

People’s Services said this information would be provided. 
 
Q2. Councillor Gillian Collinson said it had been reported that approximately 4,000 Salford 

school children did not have access to a laptop, or other suitable electronic device, to 
enable them to continue with their studies during lockdown, despite H.M. Government 
indicating that all pupils would be provided with such equipment. 

 
 Councillor John Merry, Deputy Mayor and Lead Member for Children and Young 

People’s Services, replied this unfortunately was the case and H.M. Government had 
not fulfilled the commitments they had made in this regard. 

 
Q3. Councillor Kate Lewis referred to the challenges home schooling created for many 

families. She also welcomed the return to a voucher system for those children 
receiving school meals, rather than food boxes. 

 
 Councillor John Merry, Deputy Mayor and Lead Member for Children and Young 

People’s Services, said the return to a voucher system was a positive move. He added 
that, while food boxes had received criticism in certain areas of the UK because of 
their inadequate contents, those which Citywide had prepared and distributed in 
Salford had been of a high standard and received positive feedback.   

 
Q4. Responding to Councillor Karen Garrido, Councillor Bill Hinds, Lead Member for 

Finance and Support Services, said he would provide details of all direct and indirect 
funding, that Salford City Council had received from H.M. Government during the 
Covid-19 pandemic. 

 
Q5. Councillor Robin Garrido sought an update on the enforcement of social distancing 

regulations, which Councillor David Lancaster, Lead Member for Environment and 
Community Safety, duly provided, where he highlighted the challenges this created, 
particularly in terms of instigating legal proceedings. 

 
Q6. Councillor Karen Garrido asked if a briefing could be provided for elected members 

following the recent HMICFRS (Her Majesty's Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire 
and Rescue Services) review of GMP’s (Greater Manchester Police) service to victims 
and the identification of deficiencies in the recording of certain crimes. 

 

Page 7



 Councillor David Lancaster, Lead Member for Environment and Community Safety 
said it was hoped such a briefing could be arranged in the near future, in the interim 
he provided details of the initial remedial actions which had been taken arising from 
the HMICFRS’s findings. 

  
Q7. Councillor Gillian Collinson referred to Councillor Lancaster’s monthly briefings for 

elected members on community safety matters, which she said were both informative 
and of great value.  

 
Q8. Councillor Derek Antrobus, Lead Member for Sustainable Development, extended 

thanks to the relevant Salford City Council staff, partners, the Environment Agency 
and emergency services, for their efforts in dealing with and mitigating the impact of 
the recent bad weather, which had created a potential threat of flooding in the City. 

 
Q9. Councillor Karen Garrido noted that Councillor Derek Antrobus had announced his 

intention to step down from his position as Lead Member for Planning and Sustainable 
Development in advance of him not standing in the forthcoming elections for Salford 
City Council. She expressed thanks to him for his work for the Council and the City of 
Salford.  

 
Q10. Councillor Stephen Hesling asked for an update on the delivery of the Covid-19 

vaccine programme in Salford, which Councillor Jim Cammell, Executive Support for 
Social care and Mental Health, duly provided, where he expressed thanks to all the 
staff involved, highlighted the challenges which were faced and the need to encourage 
the uptake of the vaccine and counter misinformation about it. 

 
Q11. Councillor Karen Garrido extended thanks to everyone involved with dealing with the 

impact of the Covid-19 pandemic in Salford over the past ten months and who were 
continuing to do.  

 
Councillor Gina Reynolds, Lead Member for Adult Services, Health and Wellbeing, 
welcomed these thanks which she endorsed. 

 
Q12. Councillor Gillian Collinson referred to a situation where some residents of  
         Boothstown, while otherwise residents of Salford, for the provision of medical services 

came under the administration of neighbouring Wigan and asked whether this  
would impact on them receiving the Covid-19 vaccine.  

 
 Councillor Gina Reynolds, Lead Member for Adult Services, Health and Wellbeing, 

said this anomaly was recognised and measures to ensure it did not negatively affect 
the residents concerned, were being investigated.   

 
63. STATEMENT OF THE CITY MAYOR  
 

The City Mayor made announcements, highlighted issues and made comments as 
follows: 
 

(a) This would be Jim Taylor’s last meeting before his forthcoming retirement following 
seven years’ service as Salford City Council’s Chief Executive, during which time the 
local area had seen significant development and economic growth. He thanked Jim 

Page 8



for his work, commitment and support he had provided to him both personally as City 
Mayor, as well as to Salford as a whole and wished him a long and happy retirement. 

 
 Councillor Bill Hinds and Councillor John Walsh both endorsed these comments as 

well as adding their own personal tributes and best wishes. 
 
(b) Tackling the Covid-19 pandemic remained the current focus of activities with over 

18,000 cases recorded in Salford to date. The new variants of the virus were creating 
additional challenges, but the continuing hard work and commitment of the Council’s 
and its partners front line staff, along with those from the voluntary sector and wider 
community, to meet these, was something he was equally proud of and humbled by.  

  
(c) The creation of a robust testing regime remained a key element to controlling the virus, 

and Eccles Town Hall was now acting as centre to provide this for service for key 
workers and those who could not work from home. 

 
(d) Approximately 20,000 Salford residents had now received their first Covid-19 

vaccinations and although the decision to delay second doses and ensuring the 
continuity of supply, had caused some issues, the long-term delivery of the programme 
remained on target.  

 
(e)  He reiterated his regret that there had not been unanimous support for the earlier 

motion regarding H.M. Government’s funding for local authorities in 2021/22 (see 
Minute 61). Local government finance was in a perilous state and in urgent need of 
wholesale review to ensure it was both fair and provided appropriate resources for the 
most deprived areas of the UK. 

 
(f) A total of £6.4b had been lost from the RSG (Revenue Support Grant) since 2015/16, 

which had placed immense financial strains on all local authorities, but despite this. 
Salford City council remained on course to deliver a balanced budget in 2021/22.  

  
(g) Against this economic background and the additional challenges created by the  

Covid-19 pandemic, there was an increasing need for a government which was 
committed to restoring the nation’s economy and infrastructure. These were issues 
which were particularly having an impact on Salford, as was demonstrated by 
increasing levels of unemployment and Universal Credit claimants, particularly those 
aged 18 to 39 and from BME (Black and Minority Ethnic) communities. The restoration 
and improvement of local services and the provision of the devolved funding to achieve 
this, should now be a key objective of both this and any future government. 

 
64. GENERAL QUESTIONS AND COMMENTS TO THE CITY MAYOR  
  
Q1. Councillor Bill Hinds, Lead Member for Finance and Support Services, said he fully 

supported the City Mayor’s comments regarding local government finance (see 
Minutes 63(e)(f)(g)). 

 
 The City Mayor welcomed this support. 
 
Q2. In relation to the City Mayor’s earlier comments, concerning both the pandemic and 

for local authority funding to fairly reflect indicators of deprivation, socio-economic and 

Page 9



demographic factors, Councillor Paula Boshell, Lead Member for Anti-Poverty, 
Neighbourhoods, Financial Inclusion and Equalities, referred to the recent City Council 
Policy Forum where the correlation between Covid-19 and poverty had been 
highlighted. 

 
 The City Mayor welcomed these comments which he endorsed and added that, at the 

heart effective local government was understanding the real needs of people and 
supporting them accordingly and consequently tackling social inequality.  

 
Q3. Councillor Karen Garrido urged the City Mayor to follow lead of the Mayor of Greater 

Manchester, who had indicated an intention to freeze local Council Tax for 2021/22. 
This could potentially provide some financial relief to residents of Salford, many of 
whom were suffering additional hardships because of the Covid-19 pandemic.  

 
 The City Mayor replied that he and his counterpart the Mayor of Greater Manchester 

had a totally different respective roles and responsibilities and while he wished to avoid 
increasing Council Tax, this was not a realistic option for the reasons he had outlined 
in his earlier statement (see Minute 63) as well as ensuring local services were 
maintained. He added that the Mayor of Greater Manchester had announced a freeze 
of his mayoral precept for his own office, which was a totally different matter.  

 
Q4. Councillor Karen Garrido commented while she supported a fair distribution of local 

government funding, it had to be recognised all areas had needs, irrespective of their 
geographic location, or whether they were predominately rural, rather than urban, in 
nature. 

 
 The City Mayor said he fully recognised that all local areas had needs, which were 

often specific to them and this was why a fairer method for funding, which truly 
reflected these regional individualities and demographics had to be urgently 
developed. 

 
(At this point in proceedings (12.30 p.m.), the Ceremonial Mayor, in accordance with 
Part 4 Rules of Procedure, Section A, Rule 12 of the Salford City Council Constitution, 
asked whether members wished to extend the meeting beyond the regular finish time 
of 12.30 p.m. It was duly agreed there should be such an extension and for the meeting 
to now conclude at 12.45 pm.) 

 
65. GENERAL QUESTIONS AND COMMENTS TO CHAIRS OF SCRUTINY PANELS 
 

RESOLVED: THAT this item be deferred until the next meeting to be held on 17 March 
2021. 

 
66.   GENERAL QUESTIONS AND COMMENTS ON THE DISCHARGE OF FUNCTIONS 

OF JOINT AUTHORITIES AND OUTSIDE BODIES 
 

RESOLVED: (1) THAT this item be deferred until the next meeting to be held on 17 
March 2021. 
 
                     (2) THAT the updates submitted in relation to the recent activities of the 
following bodies, be noted: 

Page 10



 

 ForHousing 

 Salford Council for Voluntary Service (CVS) Executive Committee 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A full audio/visual recording of these proceedings can be found on the Salford City 
Council website Council 20 January 2021 Webcast 

Page 11

https://salford.public-i.tv/core/portal/webcast_interactive/535777


This page is intentionally left blank



SALFORD CITY COUNCIL 
INSTALLATION OF CEREMONIAL MAYOR 2020/21 

 
 20 January 2021 
 
 Meeting commenced:   2.00 p.m.   
        “               ended:   3.10 p.m.  
 
PRESENT: Councillor Charlie McIntyre - Ceremonial Mayor and Chair 
 
  Mr Paul Dennett - City Mayor 

   
Councillors Sharmina August, Damian Bailey, Michele Barnes, Barbara 
Bentham, Paula Boshell, Adrian Brocklehurst, Joshua Brooks, Tanya 
Burch, Bob Clarke, Stephen Coen, Jillian Collinson, Jim Dawson, Stuart 
Dickman, Laura Edwards, Heather Fletcher, Karen Garrido, Robin 
Garrido, Jane Hamilton, Stephen Hesling, Bill Hinds, Ann-Marie 
Humphreys, David Jolley, Jim King, David Lancaster, Ari Leitner, Mike 
McCusker, Ray Mashiter John Merry, Margaret Morris, John Mullen, 
Lewis Nelson, Mike Pevitt, Gina Reynolds, Neil Reynolds, Brendan 
Ryan, Arnold Saunders, Robert Sharpe, Les Turner, Madeline Wade, 
Ray Walker, Joan Walsh, John Walsh, Darren Ward, John Warmisham, 
Colette Weir and Ronnie Wilson.  

 
 

67. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Samantha Bellamy, 
Jim Cammell, Tracy Kelly, Wilson Nkurunziza, Barry Warner and Michael Wheeler.  
 

68. INSTALLATION OF CEREMONIAL MAYOR 2020/21 
  

Councillor David Jolley moved a motion proposing the appointment of Councillor John 
Mullen to the office of Ceremonial Mayor of the City of Salford for the Municipal Year 
2020/21, which was seconded by Councillor Michelle Barnes and supported by 
Councillor Karen Garrido. 
  
RESOLVED: THAT Councillor John Mullen be appointed to the office of Ceremonial 
Mayor of the City of Salford for the Municipal Year 2020/21. 
 
Following which, the retiring Ceremonial Mayor, Councillor Charlie McIntyre, 
congratulated Councillor John Mullen and Mrs Michelle Mullen on their respective 
appointments as Ceremonial Mayor and Mayoress of the City of Salford. These 
congratulations were supported and echoed by the City Mayor. 
 

69. DECLARATION OF ACCEPTANCE   
 

The Chief Executive asked Councillor John Mullen to make his statutory declaration 
of acceptance of office and sign the register, which he duly did and was announced 

Page 13



as “The Right Worshipful Ceremonial Mayor for the Municipal Year 2020/21” by his 
Officer, following which he took the chair and gave his inaugural speech. 
 

(Councillor John Mullen, Ceremonial Mayor in the Chair) 
 

70.    VOTE OF THANKS 
   
Councillor John Merry moved a motion of thanks to the retiring Ceremonial Mayor, 
Councillor Charlie McIntyre and his consort Doctor Tim Worden, which was seconded 
by Councillor James King and supported by Councillor Les Turner. Reference was 
made to Councillor McIntyre’s continued commitment to the role of ceremonial Mayor 
during his extended term of office due to the Covid-19 pandemic, particularly his 
chairing of online meetings of the Council, the additional challenges these had created 
and which he had successfully and adeptly met. 
 
The City Mayor also took the opportunity to extend his own personal thanks to the 
retiring Ceremonial Mayor. 
 
RESOLVED: THAT the motion as moved by the Councillor John Merry and detailed 
above, be approved and adopted. 
 
Following which, the retiring Ceremonial Mayor made his valedictory address. 

 
71. INSTALLATION OF DEPUTY CEREMONIAL MAYOR 2020/21 
  

Councillor Heather Fletcher moved a motion proposing the appointment of Councillor 
Ann-Marie Humphreys to the office of Deputy Ceremonial Mayor of the City of Salford 
for the Municipal Year 2020/21, which was seconded by Councillor Jane Hamilton and 
supported by Councillor Karen Garrido. 
  
RESOLVED: THAT Councillor Ann-Marie Humphreys be appointed to the office of 
Deputy Ceremonial Mayor of the City of Salford for the Municipal Year 2020/21. 

 
 
 
 

 
A full audio/visual recording of these proceedings can be found on the Salford City 
Council website Council Mayoral Installation - 20 January 2021 Webcast 
 

Page 14

https://salford.public-i.tv/core/portal/webcast_interactive/535778


SALFORD CITY COUNCIL (BUDGET) 
 

 24th February, 2021 
 
 Meeting commenced:     9.30 a.m. 
                                                                            “            adjourned:    11.20 a.m. 
                                                                            “        re-convened:    11.30 a.m. 
                                                                            “                  ended:    12.25 p.m. 
 
 
PRESENT: Councillor John Mullen - Ceremonial Mayor and Chair 

 
Mr Paul Dennett - City Mayor 

   
Councillors Derek Antrobus, Sharmina August, Damian Bailey, Barbara 
Bentham, Paula Boshell, Adrian Brocklehurst, Joshua Brooks, Tanya 
Burch, Jim Cammell, Bob Clarke, Stephen Coen, Jillian Collinson, 
Richard Critchley, Jim Dawson, Stuart Dickman, Heather Fletcher, 
Robin Garrido, Jane Hamilton, Stephen Hesling, Bill Hinds, Ann-Marie 
Humphreys, David Jolley, Roger Jones, Tracy Kelly, Jim King, David 
Lancaster, Ari Leitner, Kate Lewis, Sophia Linden, Mike McCusker, 
Charlie McIntyre, John Merry, Margaret Morris, Wilson Nkurunziza, Mike 
Pevitt, Gina Reynolds, Neil Reynolds, Brendan Ryan, Arnold Saunders, 
Robert Sharpe, Les Turner, Joan Walsh, John Walsh, Darren Ward, 
John Warmisham, Barry Warner, Michael Wheeler and Ronnie Wilson. 
 

72.  ANNOUNCEMENTS AND SPECIAL BUSINESS 
 

The Ceremonial Mayor reported he had been notified of the intention to submit a 
motion seeking a suspension of the normal rules of debate and which proposed be 
considered before Item 6 on the agenda (see Minute 72). 

 
73. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Stephen Coen, Laura 
Edwards, Karen Garrido, Ray Mashiter, Ray Walker and Collette Weir. 
 

74.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
  
 Councillor Arnold Saunders declared an interest in terms of the social care elements 

of the Revenue Budget Proposals 2021/22 (see Minute 73) in that he acted as the 
chaplain at a local care home. Councillors Jim Dawson (ForHousing), Robin Garrido 
(ForViva), Tracy Kelly (Dérive) and John Merry (Dérive) all declared interests in any 
matters relating to the affairs of the bodies respectively indicated, of which they were 
directors. 

 
75.  CABINET MEMBERSHIP 2020/21 
 

The City Mayor submitted a report detailing a recent change to his Mayoral Team 
2020/21 in that, following the resignation of Councillor Derek Antrobus as Lead 

Page 15



Member for Sustainable Development, in accordance with section 9E of the Local 
Government Act 2000 and until further notice, those functions previously delegated 
to him would now be exercised by Councillor John Merry, Deputy City Mayor.  
 

 RESOLVED: THAT the report and the changes to the membership and respective 
responsibilities of Cabinet for the remainder of the Municipal Year 2020/21, as 
summarised above, be noted.  

 
76.  APPOINTMENT OF INTERIM MONITORING OFFICER 
 

 The Chief Executive submitted a report indicating, in accordance with Salford City 
Council’s Scheme of Delegation, he had authorised the appointment of interim 
support for the post of City Solicitor (Monitoring Officer), pending the process for the 
recruitment, selection and appointment to the substantive post, subject to ratification 
by full Council.  
 
RESOLVED: (1) THAT approval be given to suspend the requirement under Rule 
3(i) of the Officer Employment Procedure Rules for this appointment to be subject of 
a recommendation of a committee, or sub-committee, of the Council. 
 

(2) THAT approval be given to the appointment of David Wilcock as the 
City Solicitor (Monitoring Officer) on an interim basis. 
 

77.  MOTION - SUSPENSION AND AMENDMENT OF RULES  
 
In accordance with Part 4, Section A, Paragraph 2.1 of the Salford City Council 
Constitution, a motion was submitted seeking a suspension of procedural rules, so as 
to allow a variation of the time respective members were allowed to speak during 
consideration of the Revenue Budget and Capital Programme 2021/22 (see Minute 
78). 
 
RESOLVED: THAT the motion be approved. 

 
78. REVENUE BUDGET AND CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2021/22 
 

The City Mayor presented a report detailing his proposals for the 2021/22 Revenue 
Budget and Council Tax, 2021/22 Housing Revenue Account Budget, 2021/22 Capital 
Programme, Capital Strategy 2021/22 to 2023/24, Prudential Indicators for 2021/22 to 
2023/24 (attached to these minutes at Appendix A).  
 
Councillor Les Turner moved an amendment to the City Mayor’s budget proposals, 
which was seconded by Councillor Bob Clarke and was submitted on behalf of the 
Conservative Opposition Group (attached to these minutes at Appendix B). 

 
 A debate then took place in which members spoke for and against the amendment 

proposed by the Conservative Opposition Group, where the following comments were 
made: 

 
 

 

Page 16



In favour of the amendment 
 

 Thanks were extended to the Chief Finance Officer and the Salford City Council 
finance team for their support in compiling the budget and this amendment. 
(Councillor Turner) 

 The Covid-19 pandemic was likely to have a negative financial impact on all 
households, so now was not the time to increase Council Tax and H.M Government 
had provided additional support to local authorities during this period to make it 
unnecessary. (Councillors Turner, Robin Garrido, Saunders and Leitner) 

 The economic landscape of the UK in 2010 and its subsequent unwanted, but 
necessary, influence on the economic policies of H.M Government, had to be 
acknowledged. (Councillor Collinson) 

 
Against the amendment 
 

 Raising Council Tax, although regretted, was necessary to protect jobs and 
services, both now and in the future. (Councillor Hinds and Fletcher)  

 The use of reserves, as the amendment proposed, was a high-risk approach and 
not good practice. (Councillors Hinds, Merry, Gina Reynolds, Fletcher, Pevitt, 
John Walsh, Antrobus and City Mayor) 

 The amendment suggested a total of £4.5m of efficiency savings, but did not 
quantify, or identify, how these would be met and were therefore unrealistic, with 
their effects most to likely fall on Salford’s most vulnerable residents. (Councillors 
Merry, Nelson, Cammell, Jones, and Brocklehurst) 

 The continuing negative impact of H.M Government’s economic policies on local 
authorities and their communities, had to be recognised. (Councillor Nelson) 

 H.M Government had failed to truly meet the costs of providing social care, both 
nationally and locally, instead transferring much of the financial burden for this to 
local authorities. (Councillor Gina Reynolds) 

 The proposals of the amendment had not been fully thought out, costed, or 
evaluated and therefore did not represent a realistic alternative budget. (City 
Mayor)  

 The amendment failed to recognise H.M. Government’s inadequate funding of 
local authorities in 2021/22 and that local government finance generally was in a 
perilous state and in urgent need of wholesale review, which consequently made 
the proposed increase in Council Tax necessary. (City Mayor) 

 
The Chair of the Council put the amendment to Council and in accordance with the 
Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2014, a 
named vote was taken, following which declared it not carried by 45 votes against to 
7 votes for. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 17



For the amendment to 
the proposed Revenue 

Budget and Capital 
Programme 2021/22 

(7) 

Against the 
amendment to the 
proposed Revenue 
Budget and Capital 

Programme 2021/22 
(45) 

 

Cllr Clarke 
Cllr Collinson 

Cllr Robin Garrido 
Cllr Leitner 

Cllr Saunders 
Cllr Turner 
Cllr Ward 

 

Paul Dennett 
Cllr Antrobus 
Cllr August 
Cllr Bailey 
Cllr Barnes 
Cllr Bellamy 
Cllr Bentham 
Cllr Boshell 

Cllr Brocklehurst 
Cllr Brooks 
Cllr Burch 

Cllr Cammell 
Cllr Critchley 
Cllr Dawson 
Cllr Dickman 
Cllr Fletcher 
Cllr Hamilton 
Cllr Hesling 
Cllr Hinds 

Cllr Humphreys 
Cllr Jolley 
Cllr Jones 
Cllr Kelly 
Cllr King 

Cllr Lancaster 
Cllr Lewis 
Cllr Linden 

Cllr Mccusker 
Cllr McIntyre 

Cllr Merry 
Cllr Morris 
Cllr Nelson 

Cllr Nkurinziza 
Cllr Pevitt 

Cllr Gina Reynolds 
Cllr Neil Reynolds 

Cllr Ryan 
Cllr Sharpe 
Cllr Wade 

Cllr Joan Walsh 
Cllr John Walsh 
Cllr Warmisham 

Cllr Warner 

Page 18



Cllr Wheeler 
Cllr Wilson 

  
A debate then took place in which members spoke for, against and commented on the 
City Mayor’s budget proposals for 2021/22, where the following comments were made: 
 
In favour of City Mayor’s Budget Proposals 
 

 Thanks were extended to the Chief Finance Officer and the Salford City Council 
finance team for their support in compiling the budget. (City Mayor and Councillor 
Hinds) 

 Within the limits of the financial resources available to the City Council, the 
proposals were realistic and fully calculated, but there remained the need for H.M. 
Government to review the current funding of local authorities, as well as forming 
closer links with them, to ensure their needs were met. (Councillor Hesling and 
Cammell) 

 The proposals protected jobs and services, both now and in the future. (Councillors 
Merry and Nelson) 

 There were significant social inequalities prevalent both nationally and locally and 
these budget proposals went some way to mitigating these in Salford. (Councillor 
Hamilton) 

 H.M. Government continued to fail to recognise the challenges faced by local 
authorities and reflect this in their funding of them. Salford was the 18th most 
deprived area in the UK and H.M Government’s economic polices had contributed 
to this. While additional financial support had been provided during the Covid-19 
pandemic, this did not reflect the City’s real needs now, nor did the current local 
government funding model in the long-term. (Councillor Hinds and City Mayor) 

 Salford faced significant economic and social challenges, all of which had been 
compounded by the Covid-19 pandemic, in addition since 2010/11 the City Council 
had been forced to make a total of £220m of savings. It was against this 
background that, the proposals now presented had been formulated and made an 
increase in Council Tax an unwanted necessity to ensure the preservation of 
services, both now and in the future. (City Mayor) 

 
Against the City Mayor’s Budget Proposals 

 

 The Conservatives had a proven record for efficiently handling local government 
finances. (Councillor Turner) 

 Salford City Council’s collection rate for Council Tax needed to improve. (Councillor 
Turner) 

 Increasing Council Tax at this time, placed an unnecessary financial burden on 
local residents, compounding those created by the Covid-19 pandemic (Councillor 
Robin Garrido) 

 
 The Chair of the Council then put the motion to Council and in accordance with the 

Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2014, a 
named vote was taken, following which declared it carried by 45 for votes to 7 against. 

 
 

Page 19



For the approval of the 
proposed Revenue 
Budget and Capital 

Programme 2021/22 
(45) 

Against the approval 
of the proposed 

Revenue Budget and 
Capital Programme 

2021/22 (7) 

Paul Dennett 
Cllr Antrobus 
Cllr August 
Cllr Bailey 
Cllr Barnes 
Cllr Bellamy 
Cllr Bentham 
Cllr Boshell 

Cllr Brocklehurst 
Cllr Brooks 
Cllr Burch 

Cllr Cammell 
Cllr Critchley 
Cllr Dawson 
Cllr Dickman 
Cllr Fletcher 
Cllr Hamilton 
Cllr Hesling 
Cllr Hinds 

Cllr Humphreys 
Cllr Jolley 
Cllr Jones 
Cllr Kelly 
Cllr King 

Cllr Lancaster 
Cllr Lewis 
Cllr Linden 

Cllr Mccusker 
Cllr McIntyre 

Cllr Merry 
Cllr Morris 
Cllr Nelson 

Cllr Nkurinziza 
Cllr Pevitt 

Cllr Gina Reynolds 
Cllr Neil Reynolds 

Cllr Ryan 
Cllr Sharpe 
Cllr Wade 

Cllr Joan Walsh 
Cllr John Walsh 
Cllr Warmisham 

Cllr Warner 
Cllr Wheeler 
Cllr Wilson 

Cllr Clarke 
Cllr Collinson 

Cllr Robin Garrido 
Cllr Leitner 

Cllr Saunders 
Cllr Turner 
Cllr Ward 

 

Page 20



RESOLVED: (1) THAT the risk assessment of the reserves and assumptions made in 
preparing the revenue budget for 2021/22 be noted and supported, and accordingly a 
revenue budget of £175.635m, be approved. 

                      (2) THAT the revised revenue estimates for the year 2020/21 and 
2021/22 as set out in the report now submitted, be approved. 
   

(3) THAT the decision of the Lead Member for Finance and Support 
Services on 5th January, 2021, to approve the calculation of 68,109 as the Council’s 
council tax base for the year 2021/22 (Item T in the formula in Section 31B(1) of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992, (as amended), be confirmed. 

 
           (4) THAT the action of the Chief Finance Officer (Section151 Officer) in  

approving a business rates estimate which shows £89.836m as the Council’s share of 
its retained business rates for 2021/22, be confirmed.  

 
(5) THAT the following amounts be now calculated by the Council for the 

Year 2021/22, in accordance with Sections 31 to 36 of the Local Government Finance 
Act 1992 (the Act), be approved: 
 

(a) £712,746,204 being the aggregate of the amounts which the council 
estimates for the items set out in Section 31A(2) of the 
Act representing the gross revenue budget of the 
Council. 

 

(b) £596,572,002 being the aggregate of the amounts which the council 
estimates for the items set out in Section 31A(3) of 
the Act. 

   

(c) £116,174,202 being the amount by which the aggregate at (5(a)) 
above exceeds the aggregate at (5(b)) above, 
calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 
31A(4) of the Act, as its council tax requirement for the 
year. (Item R in the formula in Section 31A(4) of the 
Act).  

   

(d) £1,705.71 being the amount at (5(c)) above, divided by Item T  
(3 above) calculated by the Council, in accordance 
with Section 31B(1) of the Act, as the basic amount of 
its council tax for the year. 

   

(e) The amounts 
attributable to the 
valuation bands 
as shown in the 
following table 
 

being the amounts given by multiplying the amount at 
(5(d)) above by the number which, in the proportion set 
out in Section 5(1) of the Act, is applicable to dwellings 
listed in a particular valuation band divided by the 
number which in that proportion is applicable to 
dwellings listed in valuation band D, calculated by the 
council, in accordance with Section 36(1) of the Act, as 
the amounts to be taken into account for the year in 

Page 21



respect of categories of dwellings listed in different 
valuation bands. 

 
Basic amount of council tax for the year 
 

A 
minus 

A B C D E F G H 

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ 
947.62 1,137.13 1,326.66 1,516.18 1,705.71 2,084.76 2,463.80 2,842.84 3,411.42 

 
(6) THAT for the year 2021/22 the Greater Manchester Mayor has 

stated the following amounts in precepts issued to the council, in accordance with 
Section 40 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, for each of the categories of 
the dwellings shown below, be noted: 
 

Precept Valuation Bands 

 
Mayoral Police and Crime Commissioner Precept 
 

A 
minus 

A B C D E F G H 

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ 
121.27 145.53 169.78 194.04 218.30 266.81 315.32 363.83 436.60 

 

Mayoral General Precept (including Fire Services) 
 

A 
minus 

A B C D E F G H 

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ 
50.52 60.63 70.73 80.84 90.95 111.16 131.37 151.58 181.90 

                     (7) THAT having calculated the aggregate in each case of the amounts 
at (5(e)) and (6) above, the Council, in accordance with Sections 30 and 36 of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992, hereby sets the following amounts, as the 
amounts of council tax for the year 2021/22 for each of the categories of dwellings 
shown below. 
 

2021/22 Council Tax 

A 
minus 

A B C D E F G H 

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ 
1,119.41 1,343.29 1,567.17 1,791.06 2,014.96 2,462.73 2,910.49 3,358.25 4,029.92 

 
   (8) THAT the council tax empty property premium charged in accordance 

with the Rating (Property in Common Occupation) and Council Tax (Empty Dwellings) 
Act 2018 shall be: 

 

   From 1 April 2021: 100% for a dwelling that has been empty for between 2 
and 5 years, 200% for a dwelling that has been empty for between 5 and 10 
years and 300% for a dwelling that has been empty for 10 years or more. 

 

Page 22



                     (9) THAT the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) budget for 2021/22, as 
detailed in Part 2 of the report now submitted, be approved and in doing so it be 
identified: 
 

(a) the estimated outturn expenditure for 2020/21 is expected to have a 
contribution from HRA reserves of £0.492m and consequently the balances 
held in reserve at 31 March 2021 are forecasted to be £6.716m. 

(b) the City Mayor has approved a 1.5% increase in rents for 2021/22 based 
upon the H.M Government’s formula of CPI (Consumer Price Index) plus 1%. 

                    (10) THAT each respective Lead Member and Strategic Director be 
requested to monitor expenditure against budget, to ensure overall net expenditure is 
contained within budget, and for the Lead Member for Finance and Support Services 
and the Chief Finance Officer (S151 officer) to report to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Board on progress with the budget on a corporate basis. 

                     (11) THAT approval be given to a Capital Programme of £48.874m for 
2021/22 and the proposed sources of funding, as set out in Part 3 and detailed in 
Appendix 6 of the report now submitted, and all capital proposals being required to be 
referred to the Procurement Board for approval, as to the detailed funding 
arrangements, prior to contractual commitments being made. 
 

(12) THAT the treasury management prudential indicators for 2021/22 
to 2023/24, as set out in Part 4 of the report now submitted, be approved. 
 
                     (13) THAT Chief Finance Officer (S151 officer) after consultation with 
Lead Member for Finance and Support Services and the City Mayor, be given 
delegated authority to make any necessary technical adjustments to the figures upon 
receipt of any further details associated to the final Local Government Finance 
Settlement. 
 

79. 2021/22 TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY, ANNUAL INVESTMENT 
STRATEGY AND MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION POLICY STATEMENT 

 
The Lead Member for Finance and Support Services submitted a report containing 
details of the Treasury Management Strategy for the financial year 2021/22, indicating 
its production and submission to the Council, was required under the CIPFA  
(Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy) Code of Practice. Also 
submitted was the Annual Investment Strategy, which needed to be considered by the 
Council under the Local Government Act 2003, together with the Council’s policy for 
the calculation of the Minimum Revenue Provision for the forthcoming financial year  
and the Treasury Management Policy Statement and Practices. 
 
Councillor Mike Pevitt seconded the approval of the Strategy and following which, by 
way of an informal vote, it was unanimously: 

 
RESOLVED: THAT the 2021/22 Treasury Management Strategy, Annual Investment  
Strategy for Treasury Management and Non-Treasury Management Investment, the 
policy for the calculation of Minimum Revenue Provision and the Treasury 
Management Policy Statement and Practices, as now submitted, be approved. 

Page 23



 
80.  MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2021/22 TO 2023/24 

 
The Lead Member for Finance and Support Services submitted a report outlining the 
proposed Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021/22 to 2023/24 which would inform 
the Council’s future financial planning and budget decisions to support delivery of the 
Council’s priorities and form part of the Council’s policy and financial framework. 
 
Councillor Mike Pevitt seconded the approval of the Strategy. 
 
In accordance with the Salford City Council Constitution, Part 4 Rules of Procedure, 
Section A, Rule 19(iv) a recorded vote was requested by three elected members 
(including Councillors Bentham, Burch and Cammell) and duly taken, following which 
the motion was declared carried by 42 votes for to 0 against, with 6 abstentions. 
 

For (42) Abstained (6) 

Paul Dennett 
Cllr August 
Cllr Barnes 
Cllr Bellamy 
Cllr Bentham 
Cllr Boshell 

Cllr Brocklehurst 
Cllr Burch 

Cllr Cammell 
Cllr Critchley 
Cllr Dawson 
Cllr Dickman 
Cllr Fletcher 
Cllr Hamilton 
Cllr Hesling 
Cllr Hinds 

Cllr Humphreys 
Cllr Jolley 
Cllr Jones 
Cllr Kelly 
Cllr King 

Cllr Lancaster 
Cllr Lewis 
Cllr Linden 

Cllr Mccusker 
Cllr McIntyre 

Cllr Merry 
Cllr Morris 
Cllr Nelson 

Cllr Nkurinziza 
Cllr Pevitt 

Cllr Gina Reynolds 
Cllr Neil Reynolds 

Cllr Ryan 

Cllr Clarke 
Cllr Collinson 

Cllr Robin Garrido 
Cllr Saunders 

Cllr Turner 
Cllr Ward 

 

Page 24



Cllr Sharpe 
Cllr Wade 

Cllr Joan Walsh 
Cllr John Walsh 
Cllr Warmisham 

Cllr Warner 
Cllr Wheeler 
Cllr Wilson 

(Councillors Antrobus, Bailey, Brooks and Leitner were not present when the vote was 
taken) 
 
RESOLVED: THAT proposed Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021/22 to 2023/24 be 
endorsed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A full audio/visual recording of these proceedings can be found on the Salford City 
Council website Council Webcast 24 February 2021 
 
 
 
 
Appendix A 
 

Appx A 2021-22 

Revenue and Capital Programme.pdf
 

 
Appendix B 
 

Appx B 

Conservative Budget Proposals 2021-22.pdf
 

Page 25

https://salford.public-i.tv/core/portal/webcast_interactive/545921


This page is intentionally left blank



  
ITEM NO. 
 

 
 __________________________________________________________________  
 

REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR FOR 
LEGAL AND GOVERNANCE  

 __________________________________________________________________  
 

TO COUNCIL  
 

ON 17th March 2021 
 __________________________________________________________________  
 
TITLE:  NOMINATIONS FOR THE OFFICE OF CEREMONIAL MAYOR FOR THE 

MUNICIPAL YEAR 2021 - 2022 
 __________________________________________________________________  
 
RECOMMENDATION:  

 

1. That the nomination for office of Ceremonial Mayor 2021 / 22 as outlined 

below is agreed. 

  
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:  
 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:  
(Available for public inspection) 
 
 __________________________________________________________________  
 
KEY DECISION:  
 __________________________________________________________________  
 
 
DETAILS: Nomination for the Office of Ceremonial Mayor 2021 / 22 
 
It will be proposed by Councillor David Jolley, seconded by Councillor Michele Barnes 
and supported by Councillor Karen Garrido that Councillor John Mullen be appointed 
to the office of Ceremonial Mayor for the Municipal Year 2021 / 22. 
 
 __________________________________________________________________  
 
KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: 
 __________________________________________________________________  
 
EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:  
 __________________________________________________________________  
 

Page 27

Agenda Item 7



 
ASSESSMENT OF RISK: Low 
 __________________________________________________________________  
 
SOURCE OF FUNDING: Existing Budgets 
 __________________________________________________________________  
 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by N/A 
 __________________________________________________________________  
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by N/A 
 __________________________________________________________________  
 
OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED:  
 __________________________________________________________________  
 
CONTACT OFFICER: Michelle Lindsay TEL. NO. 0161 793 3030 
 
WARD(S) TO WHICH REPORT RELATE(S): 
 
 

Page 28



  
ITEM NO. 
 

 
 __________________________________________________________________  
 

REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR FOR  
LEGAL AND GOVERNANCE 

 __________________________________________________________________  
 

TO COUNCIL  
 

ON 17th March 2021 
 __________________________________________________________________  
 
TITLE: NOMINATIONS FOR THE OFFICE OF DEPUTY CEREMONIAL MAYOR 

FOR THE MUNICIPAL YEAR 2021 - 2022 
 __________________________________________________________________  
 
RECOMMENDATION:  

 

1. That the nomination for office of Deputy Ceremonial Mayor 2021 / 22 as 

outlined below is agreed. 

  
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:  
 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:  
(Available for public inspection) 
 
 __________________________________________________________________  
 
KEY DECISION:  
 __________________________________________________________________  
 
 
DETAILS: Nomination for the Office of Deputy Ceremonial Mayor 2021 / 22 
 
It will be proposed by Councillor Heather Fletcher, seconded by Councillor Jane 
Hamilton and supported by Councillor Karen Garrido that Councillor Ann-Marie 
Humphreys be appointed to the office of Deputy Ceremonial Mayor for the Municipal 
Year 2021 / 22. 
 __________________________________________________________________  
 
KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: 
 __________________________________________________________________  
 
EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:  
 __________________________________________________________________  
 

Page 29

Agenda Item 8



 
ASSESSMENT OF RISK: Low 
 __________________________________________________________________  
 
SOURCE OF FUNDING: Existing Budgets 
 __________________________________________________________________  
 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by N/A 
 __________________________________________________________________  
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by N/A 
 __________________________________________________________________  
 
OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED:  
 __________________________________________________________________  
 
CONTACT OFFICER: Michelle Lindsay TEL. NO. 0161 793 3030 
 
WARD(S) TO WHICH REPORT RELATE(S): 
 __________________________________________________________________  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 30



 1 

Part 1: Open to the Public  

 

REPORT OF CITY SOLICITOR 

 

TO 

COUNCIL 

ON  

17TH MARCH 2021 

 

TITLE: Appointment of Independent Person 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

Council is recommended to: 

1. Note the report. 
2. Approve the appointment of Ms Caroline Wolfenden as Independent Person 

for Salford City Council for an initial term of four years. 
3. Thank Ms Shazia Nazir as outgoing Independent Person for her commitment 

to the role and assistance to the current and former Monitoring Officers in 
considering allegations of breaches of the Code of Conduct for Members. 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

 
The purpose of this report is to seek the approval of full Council to appoint Ms 
Caroline Wolfenden as Independent Person for Salford City Council. 

 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: 

 
Council Constitution as published. 
Council Report - 18th July 2012 The Localism Act 2011 New Code of Conduct for 
Members and Arrangements to Deal with Complaints  
Localism Act 2011 
Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2015. 
Council Report-17th July 2019 Appointment of Independent Persons 
Standards Committee Report 30th July 2020 
Council Report-18th November 2020 Appointment of Independent Persons 

 

KEY DECISION: NO 

 

Page 31

Agenda Item 9



 2 

DETAILS: 

 
Under the provisions of the Localism Act 2011, the way that the Council maintains 
high standards of conduct and deals with complaints about its elected members 
requires the appointment of an Independent Person.  
  
The Localism Act provides that the Independent Person is to be consulted by the 
Council before a decision is made on an allegation that it has decided to investigate 
in relation to a complaint that the City Mayor, an elected or co-opted member of the 
Council has or may have failed to comply with our members code of conduct. Their 
views may also be sought on other matters such as by Members (elected or co-
opted) who are the subject of an allegation. A further part of the role is to be part of 
the Panel to advise the full Council in relation to the dismissal of the Head of Paid 
Service, the Monitoring Officer or the Chief Finance Officer (‘relevant officers’) as 
required by the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2015. 
 
It is considered important to have more than one Independent Person that can be 
called upon to assist the Council with Standards matters and to increase resilience 
and the Committee on Standards in Public Life recommended in its January 2019 
report on local government ethical standards that ‘Local authorities should have 
access to at least two Independent Persons.’ 
 
Members will recall that, following a robust shortlisting and interview process, full 
Council on 18th November 2020 approved the appointment of Ms Donna Allen as an 
Independent Person for Salford City Council and noted that it was not possible to 
recommend an appointment to the second position of Independent Person at that 
stage and that a further advertising and recruitment exercise would be initiated in due 
course. 
 
The role of Independent Person was duly advertised again with a closing date of 6th 
January 2021. A shortlisting and interview process followed in February 2021, 
conducted by a panel consisting of the Deputy Monitoring Officer, Manchester City 
Council’s Head of Governance and the Independent Chair of the Standards 
Committee Mr Jonathan Storey. 
 
The interview panel is pleased to recommend Ms Caroline Wolfenden for 
appointment as an Independent Person for Salford City Council. Ms Wolfenden was 
previously appointed to the role by full Council on 17th July 2019 for a period of one 
year and has supported both the current and former Monitoring Officers in 
considering how allegations of a beach of the Code of Conduct for Members should 
be dealt with. 
 
Ms Wolfenden has significant experience of working in local authority environments 
and values based cultures. She is currently Head of Corporate Policy, Performance 
and Standards at Rochdale Council. This is a politically restricted role in which she is 
required to support senior managers and elected members with evidence based 
decision making. She has experience as an Investigating Manager, investigating 
allegations of misconduct, preparing investigation reports and making 
recommendations to the Commissioning Manager, and has also chaired disciplinary 

Page 32



 3 

hearings, involving listening to the evidence and making an impartial judgement on 
the appropriate course of action. 
Members will recall that at the meeting of full Council on 18th November 2020, the 
continuation of the current appointment of Ms Wolfenden and Ms Shazia Nazir was 
approved until such time as a second Independent Person was recommended for 
appointment. On behalf of full Council, the Standards Committee would like to take 
this opportunity to thank Ms Nazir as outgoing Independent Person for her 
commitment and the assistance she has provided as Independent Person to the 
current and former Monitoring Officers in considering allegations of breaches of the 
Code of Conduct. 
 

 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES:  

Independent Persons, as part of the standards regime, are responsible for 
embedding compliance with The Code of Conduct which is included in our 
Constitution. The Constitution sets out the governance framework for local 
authorities, which provides the foundations for any local authority that aspires to be 
effective, progressive and successful. 
 

 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: 

The recruitment process was subject to the Council’s equal opportunities, recruitment 
and selection policies. 
 

 

ASSESSMENT OF RISK:  

Candidates were subject to a robust shortlisting and interview process to ensure that 
they have the relevant skills and experience to successfully carry out their roles. 
 

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS:  

The Legal background to appointment of Independent Persons is set out in the body 
of the report.

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: 

Source of funding: Members Revenue Budget 

 
In accordance with the Constitution the annual allowance entitlements for each 
Independent Person are as follows: 
 
An annual allowance of £408.44 plus an additional £57.00 per half day attendance 
and £114.00 for a full day. 

Page 33



 4 

 

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: n/a 

 

HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Sam Betts 

The recruitment process has been, and will continue to be, in line with the Council’s 
approach to recruitment and selection and carried out in a fair, lawful, transparent 
and safe manner. 

 

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS:  n/a 

 

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: n/a 

 

CONTACT OFFICER: Sian Roxborough, City Solicitor  

TEL NO: 0161 793 3620 

 

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: ALL 

 

Page 34



 1 

Part 1: Open to the Public – Item No. 

 

REPORT OF THE CITY SOLICITOR 

 

TO 

COUNCIL 

ON  

17th MARCH 2021 

 
TITLE: Appointment of an Electoral Registration Officer and Returning Officers and 

Associated Electoral Matters 

 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
The Council is recommended to: 
 

1. Appoint Tom Stannard as the Electoral Registration Officer for Salford. 
 

2. Appoint Tom Stannard as the Returning Officer for the elections of councillors 
of the district of Salford and for elections of councillors of parishes within the 
district. 

 
3. Appoint Tom Stannard as the Returning Officer for the district of Salford for the 

election of a Greater Manchester Combined Authority mayor. 
 

4. Delegate to the Chief Executive the power to appoint Deputy Electoral 
Registration Officers. 
 

5. Delegate to the Chief Executive the power to make, where necessary, 
alterations to the designation of any polling place prior to the Council’s next full 
review of polling districts and polling places, in consultation with relevant ward 
councillors, the City Mayor and group leaders, and the Chair of the Electoral 
Matters Committee. 

 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

 
The purpose of this report is to propose that the Council confirm the appointment of 
Tom Stannard as Electoral Registration Officer for Salford, Returning Officer for the 
election of councillors for Salford and Returning Officer for the district of Salford for 
elections of a Greater Manchester Combined Authority mayor. 
 

Page 35

Agenda Item 10



 2 

The report further proposes that delegations be made to the Chief Executive 
authorising him to make: 
 

 appointments of Deputy Electoral Registration Officers; 
 

 where necessary, alterations to the designation of any polling place prior to the 
Council’s next full review of polling districts and polling places, in consultation 
with relevant ward councillors, the City Mayor and group leaders and the Chair 
of the Electoral Matters Committee. 

 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: None 

 

 

KEY DECISION: No 

 

 

DETAILS: 

 
1. Background 
 
1.1 The Council is required to make appointments to a number of statutory offices 

relating to the conduct of the electoral process. The individuals appointed to 
these offices hold personal legal responsibilities separate from their 
responsibilities as Council officers. Consequently, notwithstanding certain 
references in the Council’s Constitution identifying certain of these posts as 
being associated with the Council’s Chief Executive, it is considered that the 
relevant appointments should be explicitly made to named officers rather than 
being taken to automatically attach to any particular officer post within the 
authority. 
 

1.2 This report concerns the appointment of: 
 

 an Electoral Registration Officer for Salford; 
 

 a Returning Officer for the elections of councillors of the district of Salford 
(and for elections of councillors of parishes within the district); and 

 

 a Returning Officer for the district of Salford for the election of a Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority (“GMCA”) mayor. 

 
1.3 This report also concerns the delegation to the Chief Executive of certain 

Council functions relating to the appointment of Deputy Electoral Registration 
Officers and the designation of polling places. 

 
 
 

Page 36



 3 

2. Appointment of an Electoral Registration Officer 
 
2.1 Section 8(2) of the Representation of the People Act 1983 (“the RPA 1983”) 

requires that the Council “appoint an officer of the council to be registration 
officer for any constituency or part of a constituency conterminous with or 
situated in the district”. Under the Council’s Constitution the Electoral Matters 
Committee is delegated the power to appoint Salford’s Electoral Registration 
Officer. However, this does not prevent the Council from making the 
appointment itself. 

 
2.2 Tom Stannard joined the Council as Chief Executive on 1 February 2021. The 

Council is recommended to appoint him as the Electoral Registration Officer for 
Salford. 

 
2.3 It is to be noted that the officer appointed as Salford’s Electoral Registration 

Officer will automatically, by virtue of section 28(1)(a) of the RPA 1983, be the 
Acting Returning Officer for the election of Members of Parliament for the 
Salford & Eccles and Worsley & Eccles South parliamentary constituencies. 

 
3. Appointment of a Returning Officer for the elections of councillors of the 

district of Salford (and for elections of councillors of parishes within the 
district) 

 
3.1 Section 35(1) of the RPA 1983 requires that the Council “appoint an officer of 

the council to be the returning officer for the elections of councillors of the district 
and an officer of the council to be the returning officer for elections of councillors 
of parishes within the district”. Under the Council’s Constitution the Electoral 
Matters Committee is delegated the power to appoint a Registration Officer for 
these purposes. However, this does not prevent Council from making the 
appointment itself. 

 
3.2 The Council is recommended to appoint Tom Stannard as the Returning Officer 

for the elections of councillors of the district of Salford and for elections of 
councillors of parishes within the district (albeit that there are currently no parish 
councils within the district of Salford). 

 
3.3 It is to be noted that the officer appointed as Salford’s Returning Officer for the 

election of councillors of the district will automatically, by virtue of the Local 
Authorities (Mayoral Elections) (England and Wales) Regulations 2007, be the 
Returning Officer for the election of a City Mayor for Salford City Council. 

 
4. Appointment of a Returning Officer for the district of Salford for the 

election of a Greater Manchester Combined Authority mayor 
 
4.1 The administrative model adopted for the GMCA mayoral election involves a 

Returning Officer (colloquially referred to as a “Local Returning Officer”) at 
district level for each of the ten constituent councils of the GMCA, with a 
Combined Authority Returning Officer (“CARO”) overseeing the election on a 
Greater Manchester basis. 

 

Page 37



 4 

4.2 The conduct of the GMCA mayoral election is governed by The Combined 
Authorities (Mayoral Elections) Order 2017. It provides that Section 35 of the 
RPA 1983 is modified so as to insert a new Subsection 35(2D) which provides 
that: “each constituent council shall appoint an officer of the council to be the 
returning officer for the election of a combined authority mayor.” This wording 
indicates that there should be a separate appointment of Local Returning 
Officers by the constituent councils for the purposes of the GMCA mayoral 
election. 

 
4.3 The Council is recommended to appoint Tom Stannard as the as the Returning 

Officer for the district of Salford for the election of a Greater Manchester 
Combined Authority mayor. 

 
5. Delegation to the Chief Executive in relation to the appointment of Deputy 

Electoral Registration Officers 
 
5.1 While Returning Officers have the power to appoint their own deputies, the 

power to appoint Deputy Electoral Registration Officers rests with the Council 
(under Section 52(2) of the RPA 1983) rather than with the Electoral Registration 
Officer. This might be considered anomalous given that the role of Electoral 
Registration Officer is, like that of a Returning Officer, a statutory role distinct 
from the appointed officer’s role as a Council officer. 

 
5.2 There are certain registration matters that should only be conducted by the 

Electoral Registration Officer personally or by their formally appointed deputy, 
such as registration hearings. To assist the Electoral Registration Officer with 
the effective conduct of their duties it is proposed that the power to appoint 
Deputy Electoral Registration Officers is delegated to the Chief Executive. 

 
6. Delegation to the Chief Executive in relation to designation of polling 

places 
 
6.1 The Electoral Administration and Registration Act 2013 requires the Council to 

undertake a “compulsory” review of parliamentary polling districts and polling 
places every 5 years; the Council may also undertake a discretionary “interim” 
review at other times. Also, in practice any review of parliamentary polling 
districts and polling places (whether “compulsory” or “interim”) is likely to be 
accompanied by a review of the associated arrangements applying at local 
elections. An Appendix is attached to this report defining some of the key 
terminology applying to polling district and polling place reviews. 

 
6.2 The Council undertook its last review of parliamentary polling districts and 

polling places, combined with a review of the associated local election 
arrangements, in Summer/Autumn 2019. The review of polling districts and 
polling places took into account the changes to some of the Council’s ward 
boundaries arising from the last Local Government Boundary Commission for 
England’s (LGBCE) Electoral Review of Salford. 

 
6.3 As the Council is only required to undertake a compulsory review every five 

years it is likely that some changes to polling districts or polling places will be 

Page 38



 5 

required outside of the cycle of compulsory reviews. An interim review, with a 
focused scope, can be used to deal with such situations. 

 
6.4 On occasion, it may be necessary to change the designation of a polling place 

outside of the statutory review process or the timetable for a meeting of the 
Electoral Matters Committee or the Council. This usually occurs as a result of 
premises being closed or unexpectedly becoming unavailable, often at short 
notice, or if an unscheduled or early poll takes place. The likelihood of premises 
becoming unavailable at short notice is increased within the context of the 
current COVID-19 pandemic. 

 
6.5 It is proposed that authority is delegated to the Chief Executive to make, where 

necessary, alterations to the designation of any polling place, in consultation 
with relevant ward councillors, the City Mayor and group leaders, and the Chair 
of the Electoral Matters Committee. 

 
7. Recommendations 
 
7.1 The recommendations to the Council are set out at the beginning of this report. 

Page 39



 6 

 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: N/A 

 

 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:N/A 

 

 

ASSESSMENT OF RISK: LOW 

 

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Shared Legal Service 

 
The Council is required to make appointments to a number of statutory offices relating 
to the conduct of the electoral process, namely: 
 

 an Electoral Registration Officer for Salford; 
 

 a Returning Officer for the elections of councillors of the district of Salford (and 
for elections of councillors of parishes within the district); and 
 

 a Returning Officer for the district of Salford for the election of a Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority mayor. 

 
The individual(s) appointed to these offices hold personal legal responsibilities 
separate from their responsibilities as Council officers. It is therefore considered that 
the relevant appointments should be explicitly made to named officers rather than 
being taken to automatically attach to any particular officer post within the authority. 
 
The Council has responsibility for the review of polling districts and polling places. On 
occasion, it may be necessary to change the designation of a polling place outside of 
the statutory review process or the timetable for a meeting of the Electoral Matters 
Committee or the Council. To allow changes to polling places to be properly made in 
such circumstances, a delegation to the Chief Executive is proposed. 

 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 

 

 

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 

 

Page 40



 7 

HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 

 

 
 

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 

 

 

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: 

 

 

CONTACT OFFICER: Sian Roxborough TEL NO:  
 

 

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: All 

  

Page 41



 8 

Appendix – Key Terminology Relating to Polling Districts and Polling Places 
 
Ward: one of the 20 electoral areas into which the Salford City Council local authority 
area is divided for the purposes of electing councillors. 
 
Polling district: the geographical area created by the division of a parliamentary 
constituency or Council ward into smaller parts, within which a polling place can be 
determined, which is convenient to electors. In Salford, each ward is divided into a 
number of polling districts. 
 
Polling place: is the building or area in which the polling station(s) will be sited by  
the Returning Officer.  
 
Polling station: the room where the poll takes place (e.g. community room), which  
must be located within the polling place. The location of the polling station within the 
polling place is chosen by the Returning Officer.  
  
Where possible, every polling district should have its own dedicated polling place and  
all electors in that polling district are assigned to vote at the polling station located in  
that place. However, it is possible to have a polling place based in an adjacent polling  
district where circumstances determine this is the best option.  
 
It should be noted that the terms ‘polling place’ and ‘polling station’ are often used  
interchangeably and most people consider the polling place (such as a community  
centre) to be the polling station. However, it is possible to have a double polling  
station in a polling place (e.g. two sets of staff, utilising separate ballot boxes and 
electoral registers). Double stations exist where electors may be coming from two 
different polling districts/wards, in polling districts where there are a large number of 
electors in person or where there is high turnout expected.  

 

 

Page 42



 1 

 Part 1 - Open to the Public 
 

ITEM NO.  

 

 
 

REPORT OF THE LEAD MEMBER FOR WORKFORCE AND INDUSTRIAL 
RELATIONS 

 

 
 

TO COUNCIL 
 

ON  
 

17TH MARCH 2021 

 
 
TITLE: PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2021-22 

 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS:  
 
THAT the content of the draft Pay Policy Statement for 2021/22 be noted and 
approved. 
 
THAT the gender pay gap information is noted including the publication 
requirements. 
 

 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 
Salford City Council pride ourselves on being an exemplar employer ensuring that all 
of our remuneration and wider workforce strategies, policy frameworks, procedures 
and practice reflect the commitments in the Employment Standards Charter and the 
Greater Manchester Good Employment Charter, leading the way to make Salford a 
great place to work.   
 
In order to promote openness and accountability in local pay arrangements, the 
Localism Act 2011 requires the authority to prepare, approve and publish a pay 
policy statement.  This statement must articulate the council’s policies towards a 
range of issues relating to the pay of the workforce, particularly its senior staff and its 
lowest paid employees. 
 
In line with the Equality Act 2010 (specific duties and public authorities’ regulations 
2017) Salford City Council is also publishing details of our gender pay gap. The 
Council has seen a reduction of 3.2% in the mean gender pay gap and 5% in the 
median gender pay gap since reporting began.  
 
 

Page 43

Agenda Item 11



 2 

 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: 
 

 
 
KEY DECISION: YES / NO 

 
 
DETAILS: 
 
1. Background 
 
Under section 38 of the Localism Act, local authorities are required to publish a pay 
policy statement annually.  This statement must articulate the council’s policies 
towards a range of issues relating to the pay of the workforce, particularly its senior 
staff and its lowest paid employees.  
 
The Pay Policy Statement relates to people employed by Salford City Council 
whose remuneration, including rate of pay and terms and conditions, are 
determined by and within the control of the authority.  It therefore does not 
apply to teachers; support staff in schools and academies or people employed 
by a third party. 
 
The draft Pay Policy Statement sets out the pay arrangements for 2020/21. The 
statement is attached for consideration by the Workforce Panel before it is submitted 
to full council for approval. 
 
2. Living wage 
 
As the first Local Authority in Greater Manchester to be an accredited living wage 
employer, we continue to set our minimum pay rates above the Foundation Living 
Wage of £9.50 per hour. Our local pay model ensures an hourly rate for Council 
employees of £9.69.  
  
The Council is also committed to encouraging more organisations and companies to 
pay the real Living Wage and aims to become the first Living wage City in England. 
We have already been recognised by the Living Wage Foundation for this ambition. 

We already have 47 accredited Living Wage employers in Salford with many more 
firms working towards accreditation or already paying the real Living Wage. Our aim 
is to double the number of people working for an accredited Living Wage employer 
from 10,000 to 20,000 by 2022. 

 
3. Local Government Transparency Code 2014  

 
In October 2014 the Department for Communities and Local Government published 
its Local Government Transparency Code which requires the council to publish 
certain information relating to senior employees pay and pay dispersion.   
 

Page 44



 3 

The Code requires the council to publish the pay multiple which is defined as the 
ratio between the highest paid salary and the median salary of the whole of the 
authority’s workforce.   The pay policy statement includes these ratios to reflect those 
requirements. 
 
4. Gender Pay Gap Reporting Requirements 
 
The Equality Act 2010 (Specific Duties and Public Authorities) Regulations 2017 
introduced specific requirements for public sector employers with more than 250 staff 
to publish information relating to their gender pay gap on an annual basis.  
 
There are six calculations under the regulations captured on a snapshot date of 31st 
March 2020. The two key calculations are the mean and median gender pay gap. 
The mean gender pay difference for Salford City Council is 11.3% and the median 
gender pay difference is 13.8%.  The position has improved since our first report in 
2018 with the mean falling by 3.2% and the median by 5%.   
 
Gender pay is different to equal pay whereby men and women employed by the 
same organisation performing equal work must receive equal pay. As a responsible 
employer we ensure fairness, equity and equal pay compliance in all our pay 
structures and monitor robustly through an annual equal pay audit to make sure our 
male and female employees continue to be paid equally.  
 
Gender pay is the difference in the average hourly earnings of men and women 
within an organisation and is largely affected by workforce composition. We are 
pleased that our gender pay gap has continued to reduce since the last reporting 
period and remains below the national average. Whilst we do have a high proportion 
of women concentrated in our lowest quartiles (which relates to a high proportion of 
women occupying our lower paid roles such as catering and cleaning.) We are very 
proud to retain service delivery in house, providing flexible employment opportunities 
paid at 4.9% above the real living wage and 19.1% above the national living wage to 
many Salford residents.  It should also be noted that 7 out of 10 of our top earners 
are female and 61% of our senior leadership team (Assistant Director and above) are 
women. 
 
We are also looking at focusing on areas of occupational segregation and are proud 
to be the first Local Authority to support the #TechSheCan programme. As leaders in 
digital transformation and apprenticeships we are committed to innovation, inclusivity 
and inspiring the next generation. We have developed a tech talent pipeline initiative 
to help residents make the most of our digital opportunities and we want to continue 
to design and create accessible routes into digital employment for women and other 
groups underrepresented in tech roles.   
 
Further details are contained within the draft pay policy statement (Appendix 1).  
Whilst legislation only requires that figures relating to the gender pay gap are 
published a report is being produced to supplement the figures which provides further 
information and context behind the figures reported.  
 

 

Page 45



 4 

 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES:  
 

 
 
EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:  

 
 
ASSESSMENT OF RISK:  
 

 
 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by Mary Sutton, Head of Litigation and 
Employment Group m.sutton@manchester.gov.uk 
 
The proposed pay policy complies with the Council's obligations under the Localism 
Act 2011, the Local Government Transparency Code 2014 and the gender pay gap 
reporting requirements. 
 

 
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by Paul Hutchings Strategic Finance Manager 
paul.hutchings@salford.gov.uk 
 
Whilst there are no direct financial implications resulting from this report, employee 
remuneration represents a significant expenditure line for the Council.  It must be 
noted that employee remuneration, as outlined within the Pay Policy Statement, is 
included within the budget assumptions for 2021/22 and beyond.  Furthermore, 
disclosure of senior officer pay is included within the council’s annual statement of 
accounts as described within the pay policy statement. 
 

 
 
PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Supplied by:  
 

 
HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by:  Catherine Sharples, Strategic HR and OD 
Manager 
 
Contained within the body of the report. 

 
 
OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED:  

 
 
CONTACT OFFICER:  Catherine Sharples, Strategic HR and OD Manager (ext 
8607) 

 
 
WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES:  

Page 46

mailto:m.sutton@manchester.gov.uk
mailto:paul.hutchings@salford.gov.uk


 5 

 
 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Pay Policy Statement: 
 

2021/22  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 49



 

2 
 

1. Introduction & Purpose 

This Pay Policy Statement sets out the council’s approach to pay policy in 
accordance with the requirements of Section 38 of the Localism Act 2011 and due 
regard to the associated Statutory Guidance including the Supplementary Statutory 
Guidance issued in February 2013 and the Local Government Transparency Code 
2015. 

 
Section 112 of the Local Government Act 1972 gives local authorities the power to appoint 
officers on such reasonable terms and conditions as the authority thinks fit, the pay policy 
sets out how the council exercises this power. 

 
The purpose of the statement is to provide transparency with regards to the council’s 
approach to setting the pay of its employees by identifying: 

 the methods by which salaries of employees are determined; 

 the detail and level of remuneration of our most senior employees i.e. ‘chief 
officers’, at Assistant Director level and above. 
 

Once approved by full council this policy statement will come into immediate effect 
and will be subject to review on an annual basis. 
 
2. Scope of the Pay Policy Statement  
 
The statement relates to employees of Salford City Council whose remuneration, 
including rate of pay and terms and conditions, are determined by and within the 
control of the authority.  It therefore does not apply to: 
 

 All employees working in schools; 

 Individuals employed by a third party contracted to work for the authority i.e. 
agency workers; 

 Employees on secondment where their rates of pay or terms and conditions 
are not determined by the authority; 

 Individuals employed through the authority on behalf of a third party where 
remuneration and other terms and conditions are not determined by the 
Authority; 

 Volunteers or work experience placements. 
 
3. Other matters relating to pay arrangements 

 
The council takes steps to ensure that there is no pay discrimination within its pay 
structures and in determining the pay and remuneration of all its employees, 
complies with all relevant employment legislation.  This includes legislation such as 
the Employment Rights Act 1996, Equality Act 2010, Part Time Employment 
(Prevention of Less Favourable Treatment) Regulations 2000 and where relevant, 
the obligation to protect salaries under the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of 
Employment) Regulations.  
 
In determining its grading structure and setting remuneration levels, the council takes 
account of the need to ensure value for money in respect of the use of public 
expenditure, balanced against the need to recruit and retain employees who are able 

Page 50



 

3 
 

to meet the requirements of providing high quality services to the community, 
delivered effectively and efficiently and at times at which those services are required. 
 
4. Context 
 
4.1 Mayoral Priorities – The Great Eight 

 
Salford has changed and is continuing to change; at the heart of 
our approach are ambitious plans to transform Salford into a 
modern global city where we can all make a real difference to 
the lives of Salford people. By delivering our ‘Great Eight’ 
priorities we will achieve our vision for a better and fairer Salford.  
Our vision is underpinned by these priorities of tackling poverty 
and inequality, education and skills, health and social care, 
economic development, housing, transport, a transparent 
effective organisation, and social impact.  Tackling poverty is key 
to delivering our vision, as one of the largest employers in the 
city we have a role to play as an exemplar for the wider Salford 
workforce.  With 58% of our employees resident in the city the 
Council has a key role to play in setting an equitable pay 
structure, preventing people from falling into poverty through our 
approach to pay, and ensuring that those in the lowest paid jobs 
receive a fair living wage.  

 
No One Left Behind is our strategy for tackling poverty and 
creates a vision for a fairer and more inclusive Salford, where 
everyone can reach their full potential and live prosperous and 
fulfilling lives free from poverty and inequality.  Low pay is 
recognised as a key cause of poverty and ensuring that wages 
and income levels are fair and appropriate, enables residents to 
fully participate in the life of the community.  To help achieve this vision, collective efforts 
are focussed on the activities likely to have the most substantial and long-lasting impact in 
reducing poverty in the city. 

 
 

4.2 Employment Standards Charter 
 
The City Council sets the standard as an exemplar employer and must ensure that all our 
remuneration and employment policies, procedures and practices reflect our Employment 
Standards Charter and the Greater Manchester Good Employment Charter.   
 

The charter contains a suite of pledges, focused on three categories and the Council 
supports businesses across the City to  

 Invest in the local workforce: creating training and employment opportunities for 
Salford people. 

 Be an equal and inclusive employer: delivering and supporting workforce equality 
 Set the standard: adopting excellent working practices and conditions 

   

Page 51

https://www.salford.gov.uk/priorities


 

4 
 

4.3 Living Wage 
 
As the first Local Authority in Greater Manchester to be an accredited living wage employer, 
we continue to set our minimum pay rates above the Foundation Living Wage of £9.50 per 
hour. Our local pay model implemented on ensures an hourly rate for Council employees of 
£9.69.  
  
The Council is also committed to ensuring more organisations and companies to pay the 
real Living Wage and aiming to become the first Living wage City in England. We have 
already been recognised by the Living Wage Foundation for this ambition. 

We already have 47 accredited Living Wage employers in Salford with many more firms 
working towards accreditation or already paying the real Living Wage. Our aim is to double 
the number of people working for an accredited Living Wage employer from 10,000 to 
20,000 by 2022. 

5. Workforce Strategy  
 
The vision for our future workforce together with the framework and approaches required to 
achieve this are outlined in our Workforce Strategy.  The strategy is designed to support the 
council to develop a skilled and motivated workforce to deliver our mission to create the 
best quality of life for the people of Salford.  It is only through our people that we will realise 
these ambitions for the city. 
 
The Workforce Strategy is being refreshed in line with organisational priorities from 2021 
onwards. This strategy sets out how we are leading the way to make Salford a great place 
to work. It includes how we intend to develop our talent, embed flexible and smart working 
practices, improve wellbeing, inclusion, performance and digital skills, reshape our 
workforce to encourage innovation and creativity, and to embed values-based leadership 
and a positive permission culture.  
 
The strategy aims to support the City Council in achieving the skilled, motivated, flexible, 
and diverse workforce needed to deliver placed based, integrated services that make a 
difference to the people of Salford.  We recognise that our success as an organisation is 
dependent on the commitment, dedication and approach of every person that works across 
the system with the Spirit of Salford and values at the heart of everything we do.  
 
 

Page 52



 

5 
 

Our core values are; 
 
Pride 
I’m proud of and committed to our city, its people, our work, and 
I demonstrate the ‘Spirit of Salford’ in everything I do. 
 
Passion 
I am optimistic and ambitious for the city and its people, being 
creative and positive about change and making the most of 
opportunities. 
 
People 
I respect and care for others, treating everyone fairly, listening 
and acting on the things people say. 
 
Personal Responsibility  
I am honest, taking responsibility and ownership for my actions 
and decisions and using resources that I am trusted with wisely.   
 
The values inform the way we operate and influence our choices, 
behaviours, how we make decisions and transform services.   
 
 
 

 
By putting the values into practice individuals demonstrate personal commitment to ‘be the 
best they can be’ in the way that they do their jobs, provide quality services, deliver the 
priorities and make a difference to the people of Salford. 

 
6. Pay strategy and salary structure 
 
As one of the largest employers in the city the council is mindful of the impact of its 
employment and remuneration policies and practices on the local economy and 
communities.  The proportion of council employees (excluding schools) who live in 
the city as of January 2021 is 58%.  This means that they not only serve the people 
of Salford but are also direct recipients of council services and contribute to the local 
economy.   
 
It is vital therefore that the council remains an exemplar employer through its 
employment frameworks and practices and is seen as an ‘employer of choice’ to 
attract and retain employees of a high calibre throughout the organisation.   
 
The council’s approach includes: 

 The internal operation of the Employment Standards Charter and the Greater 
Manchester Good Employment Charter which set out minimum employment 
standards (including the living wage) and campaigning for its adoption by other 
organisations securing fair remuneration and employment practices across the 
city. 

 Delivery of the Workforce Strategy objectives. 

Page 53



 

6 
 

 Ensuring that we have the right roles, skills and behaviours as we transform and 
redesign services by developing the internal labour market through talent 
management, maximising the opportunities provided through apprenticeships, 
succession planning and career pathways. 

 Continuing to adopt a change management approach to service redesign, which 
focuses on employee engagement and involvement in the redesign of the services 
that they deliver.  To ensure organisational agility this approach centres on the 
purpose, functions, and outcomes for services, rather than how they are organised 
and structured.  This approach to organisation design will enable the council to 
effectively adapt and respond to change whilst also developing and shaping the 
workforce for the future.    
 

In determining its grading structure and setting remuneration levels, the council takes 
account of the need to ensure value for money in respect of the use of public 
expenditure, balanced against the need to recruit and retain employees who are able 
to meet the requirements of providing high quality services to the community, delivered 
effectively and efficiently and at times at which those services are required. 
 
The council will use flexible and innovative approaches to workforce planning, maximising 
the opportunities which apprenticeships bring, developing skills, capacity and opportunities 
for progression combined with the creation of entry level opportunities and apprenticeships. 
  
6.1 Salary structure 
 
The council uses the nationally negotiated pay spine (i.e. a defined list of salary points) 
as the basis for the pay structure in place to determine the salaries of the majority of 
its (non-teaching) workforce, together with the use of locally determined rates where 
these do not apply.   

 
The council adopts the national pay bargaining arrangements in respect of the 
establishment and revision of the national pay spine, for example through any agreed 
annual pay increases negotiated through the National Joint Councils.  

 
All other pay related allowances are the subject of either nationally or locally 
negotiated rates, having been determined from time to time in accordance with 
collective bargaining machinery.   
 
New appointments will normally be made at the minimum of the relevant pay scale for 
the grade, although this can be varied as appropriate to secure the best candidate 
within the parameters of the salary scale as determined via the job evaluation process. 
The decision on the salary to be offered will be delegated to the appointment panel for 
the post. 
 
From time to time it may be necessary to take account of the external pay levels in 
the labour market in order to attract and retain employees with particular experience, 
skills, and capacity.  Where necessary, the council will ensure the requirement for 
such is objectively justified by reference to clear and transparent evidence of 
relevant market comparators, using data sources available from within the local 
government sector and outside, as appropriate and in line with the agreed Market 
Enhancement Policy.  

Page 54



 

7 
 

 
In addition, any temporary supplement (honorarium) to the salary scale for the grade 
is approved in line with the Scheme of Delegation and Council Constitution.  
 
 
7. National Joint Council for Local Government Employees (NJC) Pay and 

Grading Arrangements 
 

Posts under NJC terms and conditions are all evaluated through the nationally 
agreed NJC job evaluation scheme. This scheme covers the vast majority of posts 
within the council and extends from spinal column point 2 of the new national pay 
spine for the lowest paid staff, to senior roles at spinal column point 46.  

 
A small number of non-teaching posts are paid in accordance with the Joint National 
Council for Youth and Community Workers terms and conditions and those set by 
the Soulbury Committee.  In addition, there are a number of teachers employed 
directly by the council who are paid in line with School Teachers pay and conditions. 
 
8. Chief Officer Pay and Grading Arrangements  
 
The council’s Chief Officers, as defined by the Localism Act, constitutes the Senior 
Leadership Team which is directly responsible for the key functions of the organisation.  The 
Hutton Report acknowledged that high quality public services require high calibre leaders to 
deliver them.  Vital to this is to ensure that public service leaders are adequately and fairly 
rewarded.  If senior officers are inadequately rewarded it will be more difficult to attract and 
retain individuals of the calibre required to lead on public service reform.  
 
The council uses the chief officer job evaluation scheme developed by the Local Government 
Employers. This scheme applies to all senior posts paid on locally determined salary points 
from spinal column point 53 and above, incorporating all chief officer posts.  This provides 
assurance that all pay differentials can be objectively justified through the use of job 
evaluation mechanisms, which directly establish the relative levels of posts and grades 
according to the requirements, demands and responsibilities of the role.  
 
 
The posts within the council falling within the definition ‘chief officers’ as defined 
within the Localism Act are those at second tier which is Assistant Director and 
above and constitutes the council’s Senior Leadership Team.  Information regarding 
their salaries is available on the council’s website together with information on posts 
with a salary greater than £50,000. 

 
In line with Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 posts where the full-time 
equivalent salary is at least £50,000 will be referenced in the council’s Annual 
Statement of Accounts which will include a note setting out the total amount of: 

 

 salary, fees or allowances paid to or receivable by the person in the current and 
previous year; 

 any bonuses so paid or receivable by the person in the current and previous 
year; 

Page 55



 

8 
 

 any sums payable by way of expenses allowance that are chargeable to UK 
income tax; 

 any compensation for loss of employment and any other payments connected 
with termination;  

 any benefits received that do not fall within the above. 
 
In line with the Local Government Transparency Code 2015 the council also 
publishes an organisation structure chart covering staff in the top three levels, 
together with a list of all posts with a salary that exceeds £50,000 including details of 
duties and responsibilities and contact details.  
 
This information can be found on the finance pages, the FOI pages, and the open 
data pages of the website. 
 
As part of the wider Green Wheels Travel Plan, the City Council introduced a car 
club for all business travel in 2015 and all Chief Officers are covered by this scheme.    

 
Progression through the incremental scale of the relevant grade is subject to 
satisfactory performance, which is assessed on an annual basis in accordance with 
the arrangements and factors set out within the council’s agreed performance review 
scheme. There is no additional remuneration which is subject to performance e.g. 
performance related pay or bonuses of any kind. 
 
9. Election Fees 
 
The council is required to provide funding to the Returning Officer to discharge 
statutory functions relating to the administration of local government elections.  The 
Returning Officer sets and makes payments for the management and administration 
of local elections from resources made available by the council.  The Returning 
Officer will make payments to those officers who undertake specific duties in relation 
to the elections (including chief officers) depending on their role.  The Chief 
Executive does not receive any additional payment for work in relation to local 
elections. 
 
Any fees payable for duties in connection with Parliamentary elections and national 
referenda are funded by Central Government.  Consequently, any such payments 
made to those officers who undertake specific duties in relation to these elections 
and referenda (including chief officers and the Chief Executive) are not funded by the 
council. 
 
10. Pay ratios  
 
The council does not have a target for the ratio between the pay of the highest earners and 
other employees. It does not propose to set one for the foreseeable future, accepting the 
judgement as summarised on page four of the Hutton Report, that such targets serve no 
useful purpose. However, it will monitor this relationship to ensure that the remuneration of 
the highest paid is not excessive and remains consistent with the needs of the council as 
expressed in this policy statement.  The current salary multiple between the highest paid 
(Chief Executive) and both the lowest and median rates for all officers within the scope of 
this policy are set out below: 

Page 56



 

9 
 

 
Highest to lowest paid 1:8.84 
 
Highest to median pay 1:6.07 
 
11. Equal Pay Audit 
 
The City Council undertakes an annual equal pay audit comparing the pay of 
protected groups who are doing equal work in the authority, investigating the causes 
of any pay gaps by gender, ethnicity, disability, age, or working pattern and putting in 
place plans to close any gaps that cannot be justified on grounds other than one of 
those characteristics. No statistically significant pay gaps have been identified for any 
of the protected groups.   
 
The council is committed to improving the levels of equalities data held, and the 
position in relation to equal pay will be monitored and reported on an annual basis.  
 
12.  Gender Pay Gap 
 
The Equality Act 2010 (Specific Duties and Public Authorities) Regulations 2017 introduced 
specific requirements for public sector employers with more than 250 employees to publish 
the following information relating to their gender pay gap: 

 The difference in mean pay between male and female employees 

 The difference in median pay between male and female employees 

 The difference in mean bonus pay between male and female employees 

 The difference in median bonus pay between male and female employees 

 The proportions of male and female employees who were paid bonus pay; and 
 The proportions of male and female employees in each quartile of their pay 

distribution. 
 
Gender pay differs to equal pay whereby men and women in the same employment 
performing equal work must receive equal pay. This is set out in legislation, to which Salford 
City Council as an employer is fully compliant. We will continue to undertake an annual equal 
pay audit and ensure there continues to be equity of pay between male and female 
employees. 
 
The mean gender pay difference for Salford City Council is 11.3%. The median gender pay 
difference is 13.8%. There is no bonus gender pay gap as the City Council does not operate 
any bonus pay scheme. Since reporting began in 2018 our mean gender pay gap has now 
reduced by 3.2% and the median pay gap has reduced by 5%. 
 
Gender pay is affected by the composition of the workforce and the City Council does have 
a high proportion of females within the lowest quartile of our pay distribution.  This relates to 
a high number of women occupying our lower paid roles such as catering and cleaning 
which are part time and term time positions. We are very proud to retain service delivery in 
house, providing employment opportunities paid at 4.9% above the real living wage and 
19.1% above the national living wage to many Salford residents. Our women within this 
quartile have also seen an average increase in hourly rate of pay of 13.2% since reporting 
began.  This does however have a big impact on our gender pay gap. As an example, if we 

Page 57



 

10 
 

excluded catering and cleaning roles from our calculations the gender pay gap reduces by 
6.6%.   
 
We continue to see more positive changes within our upper pay quartiles too.  Further 
analysis around our higher grades show the gender pay gap reducing significantly and we 
now have seven women in the top ten earners across the organisation, compared to just 
three in 2017.  This change now reflects the composition of our workforce.  61% of our 
senior leadership team at Assistant Director and above are also female. 
 
We are in the process of refreshing and investing in our #LeadingSalford leadership 
framework to develop values-based leaders who can produce results through and with 
others, leaders who have the skills and confidence to carry out the people aspects of their 
roles; leaders who are coaches and developers of people and leaders who can lead the 
way forward. We offer a range of leadership development programmes for our existing 
manager to develop strategic leadership capabilities.  Upon completion of these 
programmes, employees can achieve either a departmental manager qualification, or a 
senior leader master’s degree/MBA.  We are also continuing to deliver on our ambitious 
apprenticeship strategy to recruit new talent into the organisation and upskill our existing 
workforce.   
 
We recognise this year more than ever the need for flexible working arrangements to 
continue to build a truly inclusive organisation. A wide range of flexible arrangements exist 
across all levels of job role, including those at the most senior levels. Our apprenticeship 
and development programmes are also offered on a flexible basis to ensure these are 
inclusive to all employees. 
 
We also understand the role we play as a large exemplar organisation within the City and 
so are the first Local Authority to sign up to #The Tech She Can Charter. This is a 
commitment by organisations to work together to increase the number of women working in 
technology roles in the UK and the aim is to tackle the root cause of the problem at a 
societal level. We want to work with our schools, colleges, universities etc to inspire and 
educate young girls and women to get into tech careers and share best practice with the 
other organisations involved. We are excited to be involved in this work as we understand 
the importance of diversity in creating digital solutions for the City.   
 
Further information is provided in Salford City Council’s Gender Pay Gap report.  
 
 
12. Recruitment of Chief Officers 
 
The council’s procedures in relation to recruitment of chief officers is set out within 
the Council’s Constitution and Scheme of Delegation and is undertaken by an 
appointment panel in accordance with the Constitutional arrangements. Full council 
will be offered the opportunity to vote before a salary package exceeding £100,000 is 
offered in respect of a new appointment. 

 
When recruiting to all posts the council will ensure inclusive, fair, efficient, and 
effective recruitment practices are in place taking full and proper account of all 
provisions of relevant employment law whilst also developing the internal market 
through talent management and succession planning. 

Page 58



 

11 
 

 
The determination of the remuneration to be offered to any newly appointed chief 
officer will be in accordance with the pay structure and relevant policies in place at 
the time of recruitment.  The salary will be delegated to the appointment panel to 
determine in consultation with the Chief Executive. 
 
Where the council is unable to recruit chief officers, or there is a need for interim 
support to provide cover for a substantive chief officer post, the council will, where 
necessary, consider engaging individuals under a ‘contract for service’.  These will 
be sourced through a relevant procurement process ensuring the council is able to 
demonstrate the maximum value for money and benefits from competition in 
securing the relevant service.  In assessing individuals, it should be noted that in 
respect of such engagements the council may be required to deduct tax and national 
insurance from any fee due to an individual engaged on this basis, however no 
pension contributions will be payable for these engagements.  
 
13. Additions to Salary of Chief Officers 

 
With the exception of progression through the incremental scale of the relevant 
grade being subject to satisfactory performance, which is assessed on an annual 
basis, the level of remuneration is not variable dependent upon the achievement of 
defined targets.  
 
14.      Payments on termination & re-employment / re-engagement of former 

employees 
 

The councils’ approach to statutory and discretionary payments on termination of 
employment of chief officers, prior to reaching normal retirement age, is consistent 
with the approach for such payments made to all council employees. All payments 
are subject to approval in line with the Scheme of Delegation and Council 
Constitution.   Senior officers i.e. those in the top three levels of the organisation are 
also required to enter into a termination agreement once formal approval has been 
agreed, which amongst other things places restrictions on their immediate 
employment options. 

 
Where the Council is seeking to redesign services or reduce workforce numbers a 
voluntary scheme exists whereby employees may apply for voluntary severance or 
voluntary early retirement. Payments under the voluntary severance scheme are 
calculated based on length of service, age, and salary to a maximum of 30 weeks’ 
pay. The voluntary aspect of the scheme currently attracts an enhancement equivalent 
to 12 weeks’ pay.  Employees aged 55 or over who are members of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme may apply for the early release of their existing pension 
benefits under the voluntary early retirement scheme.  

 
Employees who access either voluntary severance or voluntary early retirement 
agree (as part of the terms of the package) not to be re-employed by the council. 

 
In accordance with the Supplementary Statutory Guidance on openness and 
accountability in local pay issued in February 2013 any severance packages with a 
value in excess of £100,000 will be approved by council before they are agreed.   

Page 59



 

12 
 

 
The policy applies to all severance packages whether or not made pursuant to a 
settlement agreement.  
 
In November 2020 the UK Government introduced The Restriction of Public Sector 
Exit Payments Regulations 2020 which restricted the value of severance packages 
to £95,000. The £95,000 includes payments of statutory redundancy, discretionary 
severance pay and pension strain costs paid by the employer to pension funds to 
cover the pension reductions for those who are made redundant after the age of 55.  
 
On 12th February 2021 after extensive review of the application of the cap, the UK 
Government has concluded that the cap may have had unintended consequences 
and the Regulations should be revoked. HMT Directions have been published that 
disapply the cap until the Regulations have been revoked.  
 

 
15. Publication 

 
Following approval by the full council, this statement will be published on the 
council’s website.  

Page 60



Part 1: Open to the Public – Item No. 

 

REPORT OF THE LEAD MEMBER FOR PLANNING AND SUSTAINABLE 
DEVELOPMENT 

 

TO Council 

ON Wednesday 17 March 2021 

 

TITLE: Places for Everyone: A Proposed Joint Development Plan 
Document of Nine GM Districts 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS:  
 
It is recommended that Council:  
 

1. Note the attached Cabinet report covering the proposal to establish a joint 
committee to prepare the Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan 
Document. 

 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:  
Following Stockport’s decision to withdraw from the Greater Manchester Spatial 
Framework, it is recommended that the remaining nine GM districts continue to 
prepare a joint plan. This plan will be called Places for Everyone. It is intended that 
the process for the Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan Document can 
resume from the point the GMSF had reached (Publication). 
 
Preparation of a joint plan requires the establishment of a joint committee. 
Agreement to establish a joint committee is a decision for Cabinet. The Cabinet 
report addressing the decision to establish a joint committee is being presented to 
Full Council for information.   
 

 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:  

The following documents are appended to this Council Report: 

 

Page 61

Agenda Item 12



 Cabinet Report Places for Everyone: A Proposed Joint Development Plan 
Document of Nine GM Districts 9 March 2021.

 

KEY DECISION: No – report for information 
 

 

DETAILS:  
 
1. Introduction  

 

1.1 Following Stockport’s withdrawal from the Greater Manchester Spatial 
Framework (GMSF) in December 2020, it is not possible for this joint plan to 
continue in this form. However, legal provisions do allow for joint plans to 
proceed where one district withdraws, providing the plan has substantially the 
same effect on the remaining districts. 

1.2 A substantial quantity of work has gone into the GMSF, including preparation 
of a robust and thorough evidence base and development of policies. In order 
that this work can be fully utilised, it is proposed that the remaining nine GM 
districts will continue to produce a joint Development Plan. This plan will cover 
Bolton, Bury, Manchester, Oldham, Rochdale, Salford, Tameside, Trafford and 
Wigan, and will address the same issues for these districts as were covered in 
the GMSF. Although this plan will exclude Stockport, there will continue to be 
effective cooperation with Stockport in line with councils’ Duty to Cooperate.  

1.3 The joint plan will be called Places for Everyone. To produce the plan, it is 
necessary that a joint committee of the nine districts is established. The 
agreement to establish the joint committee is an executive function of the 
council and therefore is a decision for Cabinet. The appended report provides 
details of this and was considered by Cabinet on 9 March 2021.  

1.4 This report is being presented to Council for information to ensure that all 
members are apprised of the progress on this matter and the intention to 
prepare the Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan Document. 

1.5 Once the draft Joint Development Plan Document has been prepared, the 
next step will be for the joint committee to commend the plan to the nine 
districts for each Cabinet/Executive to approve the plan for publication, and for 
each Full Council to approve the plan for submission to the Secretary of State.  
As such, a further report will be presented to Council in due course seeking 
approval to submit the plan for public examination.  

1.6 Recommendations are found at the front of the report and are repeated below: 

 
It is recommended that Council:  
 

Page 62



1 Note the attached Cabinet report covering the proposal to establish a joint 
committee to prepare the Places for Everyone joint Development Plan 
Document. 

 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: See details in appendix 1. 

 
 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: See details in 

appendix 1. 

ASSESSMENT OF RISK: See details in appendix 1.  

 

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Stephanie Hall, Principal Solicitor, 
Shared Legal Service 
The legislative requirements for the preparation of the joint DPD are contained in the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (“2004 Act”) and the Town and 
Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (“2012 Regulations”).  
S28 of the 2004 Act and reg. 32 of the 2012 Regulations enables the joint DPD to 
continue notwithstanding the withdrawal of one of the districts if the new joint DPD, 
Places for Everyone, has substantially the same effect as the original joint DPD 
(GMSF) on the remaining authorities.  The establishment of a joint committee of the 
nine remaining authorities will enable work to be undertaken on “Places for 
Everyone” to establish whether the test in s28 and reg. 32 is met to enable it to 
progress to Publication stage.   
 
If “Places for Everyone” is not prepared in accordance with the 2004 Act and the 
2012 Regulations, any subsequent attempt by the Council to adopt the plan would be 
susceptible to challenge. 
 
 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Martin Anglesey, Finance Officer 
 

 

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Not applicable 
 

HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Not applicable 

 
 

Page 63



CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Michael Hemingway 

 
See details in appendix 1 for Climate Change implications of the Places for Everyone 
Joint Development Plan Document. 
 

 

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: Not applicable 

 

CONTACT OFFICER: James Shuttleworth (Head of Planning) 

james.shuttleworth@salford.gov.uk  
 

 

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: All 
 
  

Page 64

mailto:james.shuttleworth@salford.gov.uk


Appendix 1 
 
Item for Part 1. 

 

REPORT OF THE LEAD MEMBER FOR PLANNING AND SUSTAINABLE 
DEVELOPMENT 

 

TO Cabinet  

ON Tuesday 9 March 2021 

 

TITLE: Places for Everyone: A Proposed Joint Development Plan 
Document of Nine GM Districts 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS:  
 
It is recommended that the City Mayor in consultation with his Cabinet: 
 

1. Approve the making of an agreement with Bury, Bolton, Manchester, Oldham, 
Rochdale, Tameside, Trafford and Wigan to prepare a joint development plan 
document to cover strategic policies including housing and employment land 
requirements and, as appropriate, strategic site allocations and Green Belt 
boundary amendments and associated infrastructure across the nine districts.  

2. Agree the district lead Member for the joint committee and a nominated deputy 
to attend and vote as necessary  

3. Delegate to the joint committee of the nine Greater Manchester councils the 
formulation and preparation of the joint development plan document to cover 
housing and employment land requirements including, as appropriate, 
strategic site allocations and Green Belt boundary amendments and 
associated infrastructure across the nine Greater Manchester districts insofar 
as such matters are executive functions.  

4. Note that the following are the sole responsibility of full Council:  

 Responsibility for giving of instructions to the executive to reconsider 
the draft plan submitted by the executive for the authority’s 
consideration.  

 The amendment of the draft joint development plan document 
submitted by the executive for the full Council’s consideration  

 The approval of the joint development plan document for the purposes 
of submission to the Secretary of State for independent examination.  

 The adoption of the joint development plan document 

 

Page 65



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: The Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) has 

been under preparation for a number of years. In December 2020, Stockport decided 
to leave the arrangements for the joint plan. On the 11 December 2020, the AGMA 
Executive Board agreed to consider producing a joint plan of the remaining nine 
districts. A specific joint committee of the remaining nine districts must be established 
for the proposed joint plan, to be known as “Places for Everyone”. 

 
The decision to establish a joint committee and the delegation to the joint committee 
to produce Places for Everyone is for the City Mayor in consultation with his Cabinet. 
However, it may be considered appropriate for these decisions to be taken to Council 
to be noted, given the importance of the joint DPD Places for Everyone. It is 
proposed that this report is included for information on the Council agenda. 
 
Places for Everyone will cover the same issues as the GMSF. It is also hoped that 
this plan can, in procedural terms, continue at the point the GMSF stopped. This 
would mean that the next stage would be Publication (rather than having to go back 
to the Draft stage). Based on current assessments of the work needed, consultation 
on the Publication plan is expected to take place in Summer 2021. 
 

 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:  

 

KEY DECISION: Yes 
 
The production of Places for Everyone will set the strategic planning context for all 
neighbourhoods in Salford. Therefore, it clearly has potential to affect communities in 
two or more wards. For this reason, the decision to establish the joint committee and 
delegate to it the formulation and preparation of the joint plan has been published on 
the council’s forward plan.  

 

DETAILS:  
 
2. Introduction  

 
2.1 Salford City Council has been working alongside the other nine Greater 

Manchester councils and the Greater Manchester Combined Authority to 
prepare the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF). The GMSF was 
developed as the overarching strategic Development Plan Document for 
Greater Manchester. Its purpose was to: 
 

 Identify the amount of new development that will come forward across 
the 10 districts, in terms of housing, offices, and industry and 
warehousing, and the main areas in which this will be focused 

Page 66



 Identify the important environmental assets across the conurbation 
which will be protected and enhanced 

 Allocate sites for employment and housing outside of the urban area 

 Support the delivery of key infrastructure, such as transport and utilities 

 Define a new Green Belt boundary for Greater Manchester 
 
2.2 The plan also included thematic policies that set standards for development, 

for issues such as design, environmental performance and biodiversity. In 
addition, it set out policies to deliver an integrated transport network that 
drives prosperity whilst protecting the environment, improving air quality and 
transitioning to a zero-carbon future.  
 

2.3 In December 2020, Stockport Council decided not to submit the Publication 
GMSF to the Secretary of State for examination and, therefore, effectively 
withdrew from the GMSF process. On the 11 December 2020 at a meeting of 
the AGMA Executive Board, it was agreed that the remaining nine GM districts 
would consider producing a joint plan.  
 

2.4 Notwithstanding the decision of Stockport Council, the rationale for the 
preparation of a Joint DPD of the nine remaining districts remains. This 
includes being able to:  
 

 Underpin Greater Manchester’s plan for recovery from Covid  

 Support delivery of the Greater Manchester Strategy  

 Provide a framework to manage growth in a sustainable and inclusive way, 
avoid un-planned development and development by appeal  

 Align the delivery of development with infrastructure proposals  

 Meet the requirement for local authorities to have a local plan in place by 
December 2023.  

 Meet the Duty to Co-operate in s33A Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004  
 

2.5 Discussions with the nine authorities indicate that there is continued 
opportunity to work collaboratively to produce a joint plan of the nine, to be 
known as “Places for Everyone”. Producing such a plan would enable those 
nine districts to continue to:  
 

 Progress the strategic policies in GMSF 2020 which through earlier 
consultations commanded widespread support, for example net zero 
carbon development, affordable housing and space and accessibility 
standards for new housing  

 Maximise the use of sustainable urban/brownfield land and limit the need 
for Green Belt to accommodate the development needs of the nine  

 Align with wider Greater Manchester strategies for transport and other 
infrastructure investment  

 Utilise the evidence base already commissioned and completed, 
minimising the cost of producing further evidence  

 Spread the cost jointly of the independent examination  
 

Page 67



2.6 Furthermore, considerable work has already been undertaken to support the 
GMSF, including the preparation of evidence and stakeholder engagement. 
Progressing a joint plan of the nine GM districts (excluding Stockport) can 
build on this evidence base and engagement.  (as appropriate)If the proposals 
within the joint DPD  have substantially the same effect as the 2020 GMSF on 
the remaining nine GM districts, , the joint DPD Places for Everyone can carry 
on from the point the GMSF had reached. This means that it is hoped that the 
next stage of Places for Everyone will be Publication (see paragraph 2.3). As 
such, it is likely that the joint DPD Places for Everyone is the quickest route to 
prepare a plan for the districts involved. 

 
3. Process for Producing the Joint Plan Places for Everyone 

 
3.1 The GMSF was being prepared by the AGMA Executive Board on behalf of 

the ten GM districts. However, it would not be appropriate for the preparation 
of a joint plan of only nine of the ten GM districts to be delegated to this Board. 
Instead it will be necessary to establish a new joint committee of the nine 
relevant districts – Bury, Bolton, Manchester, Oldham, Rochdale, Salford, 
Tameside, Trafford and Wigan. Each district will be requested to authorise the 
establishment of the new joint committee and delegate the preparation of the 
joint DPD to the new joint committee as outlined at the front of this report.  
 

3.2 Membership of the joint committee is a matter for the individual districts to 
determine. However, it is suggested, for continuity purposes, that district 
Leaders form the membership of the committee, with the ability for a 
nominated deputy to attend as necessary. It will be the responsibility of the 
joint committee to agree its terms of reference and the operational 
arrangements, including the appointing of the chair and the voting 
arrangements.  

 
3.3 The purpose of the Joint Committee will be to formulate and prepare the joint 

DPD. In the event that the draft joint DPD is considered to have substantially 
the same effect on the nine districts as the GMSF 2020, the next stage would 
be publication (Regulation 19 stage). As with the GMSF, each 
Cabinet/Executive will be responsible for approving the Regulation 19 version 
of the plan ahead of a period for representations to be made. Again as with the 
GMSF, the nine full Councils will be responsible for approving the joint plan for 
submission to the Secretary of State for independent Examination.  

 
3.4 The preparation of the joint DPD will need to be reflected in the City Council’s 

Local Development Scheme (LDS), which identifies the timetable for the 
production of local development documents such as this one. Similarly, the 
City Council’s Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) will need to make 
reference to the joint DPD appropriately and the consultation that takes place 
in relation to the joint DPD of the nine will need to be in accordance with each 
district’s SCI, as was the case with the GMSF. The City Council will review 
these documents and implement any changes needed to support the joint 
DPD Places for Everyone. This would include adding entries for the joint DPD 
Places for Everyone and the engagement process for joint DPD, which would 
be in line with the approach for Salford DPDs. 

Page 68



 
3.5 Whilst Stockport Council would not be directly involved in the preparation of 

the joint DPD Places for Everyone, they remain a key stakeholder, both as a 
partner in the GMCA  and as an adjacent local authority that will need to be 
engaged in order to meet the requirements of the Duty to Cooperate.   
 

4. Implications for the Salford Local Plan 
 
4.1 The remit of the GMSF meant that elements of the Salford Local Plan could 

only progress alongside or subsequent to the GMSF. This will remain the case 
for the joint DPD Places for Everyone.  
 

4.2 The Salford Local Plan has been split into two parts, so that Part One can 
include all policies that do not rely on the joint DPD and progress more 
quickly. Part One of the Salford Local Plan, Development Management 
Policies and Designations, is currently at Publication stage. Comments are 
being sought on an addendum of proposed modifications to the Publication 
Local Plan until 19 March 2021. It is anticipated that the Part One Local Plan 
will be submitted for examination in Summer 2021.  
 

4.3 It is proposed that Part Two of the Salford Local Plan (Core Strategy and 
Allocations) is be developed following examination of Part One. The intention 
would be to move to Publication of Part Two of the Local Plan as quickly as 
possible, but it is likely that some further engagement will be necessary before 
this can happen. This would be to update consultation and evidence on 
proposed Local Plan allocations. The timetable for Part Two of the Local Plan 
will also depend on progress with the joint DPD Places for Everyone. 
 

4.4 Alongside the Salford Local Plan, there are important elements of policy for 
Salford that would be addressed by the joint DPD Places for Everyone, 
including the overarching spatial strategy, development targets for homes and 
jobs and key infrastructure proposals. The joint DPD Places for Everyone is 
the quickest means of progressing these policies, as this document is 
expected to be Published for consultation in Summer 2021. This is ahead of 
the timetable for Part Two of the Salford Local Plan. The joint DPD also 
represents the most effective means of utilising the evidence base prepared to 
support the GMSF. This evidence has been prepared to support a GM plan, 
and it is considered that the joint DPD Places for Everyone is the simplest and 
most effective approach to make use of this work.  
 

4.5 It is recognised that the progress of the joint DPD Places for Everyone relies 
on the on-going commitment of the other eight districts. The recent decision of 
Stockport Council to withdraw from the GMSF illustrates that this is not 
guaranteed. The contingency for this is to prepare to progress Salford’s Local 
Plan without wider GM engagement. Whilst it is important that the council is 
ready to adopt this approach if it becomes necessary, it is considered that the 
joint DPD Places for Everyone is the most expedient option because of the 
timetable and evidence issues covered in paragraph 3.4. 

 
5. Next Steps  

Page 69



 
5.1 Each district will be requested to approve the establishment of the joint 

committee to enable the joint DPD Places for Everyone to be progressed, as 
set out in this report. 

 
6. Recommendations 

 
6.1 Recommendations are found at the front of the report and are repeated below: 
 

It is recommended that the City Mayor in consultation with his Cabinet: 
 

1. Approve the making of an agreement with Bury, Bolton, Manchester, 
Oldham, Rochdale, Tameside, Trafford and Wigan to prepare a joint 
development plan document to cover strategic policies including housing 
and employment land requirements and, as appropriate, strategic site 
allocations and Green Belt boundary amendments and associated 
infrastructure across the nine districts.  

2. Delegate to the joint committee of the nine Greater Manchester councils 
the formulation and preparation of the joint development plan document to 
cover housing and employment land requirements including, as 
appropriate, strategic site allocations and Green Belt boundary 
amendments and associated infrastructure across the nine Greater 
Manchester districts insofar as such matters are executive functions.  

3. Note that the following are the sole responsibility of full Council:  

 Responsibility for giving of instructions to the executive to reconsider 
the draft plan submitted by the executive for the authority’s 
consideration.  

 The amendment of the draft joint development plan document 
submitted by the executive for the full Council’s consideration  

 The approval of the joint development plan document for the purposes 
of submission to the Secretary of State for independent examination.  

 The adoption of the joint development plan document 
 

 
 

 
 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: The joint DPD Places for Everyone will set out policy that 

would apply to the determination of planning applications and will form part of the 
Development Plan for Salford. The city council is continuing to progress its Local 
Plan which will also form part of the Development Plan and will replace the saved 
polices of the Unitary Development Plan. 

 
 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: The joint DPD Places 

for Everyone will be accompanied by an Integrated Assessment. This will include 
consideration of equality impacts having regard to the protected characteristics in the 
Equality Act 2010. 

Page 70



 

ASSESSMENT OF RISK: The GMSF has been under production for a number of 

years. Significant challenges have been made to the 2016 and 2019 draft versions, 
from various parties including local residents, landowners / developers and statutory 
consultees. The joint DPD Places for Everyone will take account of this work and 
engagement. The joint DPD Places for Everyone needs to found sound at 
Examination and it is important that the evidence is robust as part of this. Work will 
be undertaken to update and refine evidence to support this plan, which will minimise 
the risk of the plan being found to be unsound.  

 

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Stephanie Hall, Principal Solicitor, 
Shared Legal Service 
The legislative requirements for the preparation of the joint DPD are contained in the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (“2004 Act”) and the Town and 
Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (“2012 Regulations”).  
S28 of the 2004 Act and reg. 32 of the 2012 Regulations enables the joint DPD to 
continue notwithstanding the withdrawal of one of the districts if the new joint DPD, 
Places for Everyone, has substantially the same effect as the original joint DPD 
(GMSF) on the remaining authorities.  The establishment of a joint committee of the 
nine remaining authorities will enable work to be undertaken on “Places for 
Everyone” to establish whether the test in s28 and reg. 32 is met to enable it to 
progress to Publication stage.   
 
If “Places for Everyone” is not prepared in accordance with the 2004 Act and the 
2012 Regulations, any subsequent attempt by the Council to adopt the plan would be 
susceptible to challenge. 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Martin Anglesey, Finance Officer 
 

 

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Not applicable 
 

HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Not applicable 

 
 

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Michael Hemingway 

 
Greater Manchester aims to be at the forefront of action on climate change and to 
make its equitable contribution to climate change commitments.  
 

Page 71



To support this, the joint DPD Places for Everyone will: 
 

 Include policy for carbon neutral new development by 2028 

 Encourage energy efficiency 

 Encourage and facilitate renewable and low carbon energy generation 

 Promote sustainable patterns of development that minimise the need to travel 
and improve air quality 

 Encourage development that reduces car dependency 

 Facilitate provision of infrastructure for low and no emission vehicles. 
 

 

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: Not applicable 

 

CONTACT OFFICER: James Shuttleworth (Head of Planning) 

james.shuttleworth@salford.gov.uk  
 

 

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: All 
 

Page 72

mailto:james.shuttleworth@salford.gov.uk


Page 73

Agenda Item 19



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



1 
 

  

 

  

 

 

 

2nd March 2021 

 

Annual Report of the CEO of IN4.0 with The Landing to Salford City 

Council 

 

1. Operators of The Landing – October 2020 

Background 

A review of The Landing operations was undertaken by the City Council’s Strategic Director 

of Service Reform and was completed in July 2020.  As a result of this review, The Landing 

Board agreed to its recommendations which included the transfer of the operational services 

from The Landing to a third party operator - IN4.0 - via a concession agreement.  This involved 

the transfer of ten employees of The Landing to IN4.0 under TUPE regulations.  

IN4.0 Group officially took over The Landing’s operational contract on 9th October 2020.  

First six months 

The first task was the development of the ‘Landing 11’ 100-day plan. The plan highlighted 

the following 11 key initiatives to focus on in the first quarter:  

1. Operational systems, partners, and supplier’s review. 

2. ICT and infrastructure. 

3. GCHQ and NCSC. 

4. IN4.0 Hub and Club model. 

5. Innovation and Business growth services. 

6. Strategic resources plan. 

7. Skills City 

8. Bid opportunities, sales, and income generation. 

9. Social 7 – IN4.0 Invest, Pan-northern angel investment fund network. 

10. Marketing and communications. 

11. The Landing Connected Cities Innovation Lab. 

 

Page 95



2 
 

 

Community 

Presently there are 14 tenants and 19 members at The Landing. Since taking over the 

operational contract, I have personally met with all tenants and members to review their 

licence to occupy agreements / membership agreements. 

This led to the development of a 12- month intense Growth and Innovation programme. The 

new tenant package will include technology, administration, and business development 

support. The offer will also be integrated with the wider MCUK campus. 

Sponsor Partner Charter – MediaCityUK 

In December 2020, we hired a full time Innovation District Business Development Manager. 

She works directly with the MediaCityUK team to actively promote and secure new tenants 

into Media City. 

Sponsor Partner Charter – The University of Salford 

We have secured a partnership agreement with the University of Salford and Dr Maria 

Stukoff, Director of the Maker Space, is now seconded to work with us two days per week. 

GMCC and The Landing – Joint Membership 

The Greater Manchester Chamber of Commerce is the largest accredited Chamber of 

Commerce in the UK, with over 4,500 members.  

The Chamber has a strong presence in Greater Manchester’s ten local areas, helping its 

members grow their businesses through a range of services included in their membership 

package. Chamber membership gives businesses access to everything from business 

support to a huge range of award-winning international trade services. 

The Landing has formed a landmark partnership with GMCC who will promote The Landing’s 

services into their membership offerings. GMCC will engage businesses outside of the 

technology sector with the offering available via The Landing, with The Landing introducing 

the importance of GM Chamber services to technology start-ups/scale-ups within their 

Membership. Thus, increasing both organisations reach into new customer demographics. 

Security Operations Centre (SOC) as a Service 

Our aim is to create a cyber security service for the region –’SOC-as-a-Service’., which will 

provide SME’s with the critical cyber services capability to reduce their risks and enable 

innovation, at a cost that is manageable. 

The intention is to provide a holistic service offering, utilising the collaborative strengths from 

key strategic partners across enterprise, innovation, SME, and academia, to provide a 

trusted service to SME’s in the region.  With the combination of digital, innovation, security 

and privacy expertise in one place it is hoped to reach across all 10 districts of Greater 

Manchester, and MediaCity tenants. 

Page 96



3 
 

By nurturing our SME’s and enabling them to grow, innovate, stay secure and remain 

sustainable, we are also creating a pipeline of enterprise clients for the future. 

Phase 1 will launch in April 2021 and the anticipated range of services include: 

- Regular updates/ assessments.  

- 8/5 or 24/7 network threat monitoring.  

- Virtual CISO services.  

- Phishing simulation.  

- Staff awareness.  

- Annual pen test.  

- Cyber essentials +.  

- Manufacturing device vulnerability management (in conjunction with Siemens). 

GM AI Foundry 

The Landing and the GM AI Foundry are working together to advance tech in GM and 

ensure SMEs across the region have access to the latest in AI innovation. 

The association between The Landing and the GM AI Foundry will include the delivery of AI 

masterclasses and AI innovation and technology workshops for business growth. 

The GM AI Foundry, alongside the GM Cyber Foundry, will play an integral part in the 

Connected Cities Innovation Lab based at the Landing. This will be home to the region’s 

SMEs to access and adopt technology with a focus on Cyber, AI, Data Science and IoT. 

2. Key Achievements 

Since October 2020, IN4.0 with The Landing have achieved significant new contract and 

partnership opportunities. These include: 

- Industry partnership secured with GM AI and Cyber Foundry.  

- Siemens, CGI CRC, and Cyber Foundry Sponsorship into Innovation Lab SOC. 

- Landmark partnership with GMCC – Access to 4500 SMEs across GM. 

- NCSC £150K Landing sponsorship secured due to be received March 2021. 

- University of Salford partnership agreement – Dr Maria Stukoff. 

- Peel Sponsor Charter updated. 

- Raytheon Cyber Academy Sponsorship– £50K pa plus training fees. 

- Niyo Enterprises Black Codher Academy (Black women only software engineering) 

secured. 

- AWS Re-start Academy status secured. 

- AI Tech North partnership confirmed with HQ and AI media channel. 

- GCHQ Year 1 successfully closed out. Year 2 programme awarded with planning 

phase commenced. 

- GCHQ NSTIx team to be based at The Landing commensurate April 2021. 

- GMCA Adult Education Flexible Procurement tender resubmitted: 500K – £1m. 

- FreelanceHER 100 programme launched. 109 participants with 50 participants 

funded by ERDF. 

- DfE Digital Skills Bootcamp bid submitted for North West region. 

Page 97



4 
 

 

3. 3-Year Roadmap 

Our 3-year roadmap for The Landing is based around 3 key pillars: 

- Skills 

To build local capabilities and capacity to address job demand, Skills City will offer a 

unique approach to training in digital technologies. 

- Innovation 

To support innovation acceleration, in collaboration with government, enterprise and 

SMEs, through the Innovation Lab and Innovation programmes, to address industry 

problems and support the evolution of industry. 

- Start-up 

To enable local IP creation and innovation, The Landing will offer an integrated structure 

to harness innovation and support start up success. 

This will be achieved through creating an established eco-system, including government, 

industry and start-ups, and each component of The Landing’s offerings will interconnect 

to support skills growth and innovation within the region. This will be further supported by 

The Landing building a world leading reputation in Immersive, Data, and AI. 

It is our aim to make The Landing fully self-funding by 2022 / 2023.  

Core Areas of Focus 

Skills City Department for Education Tender 

In February 2021, The Landing submitted a £1.2 million Digital Skills Bootcamp tender to 

the Department for Education. 

Securing the tender will enable Skills City at The Landing to train 450 adult learners over 

12 months, with a commitment to 50% female learners and 50% of learners from a 

BAME or disadvantaged background. 

The bid was formally endorsed by GMCA and the Lancashire LEP. We also secured 410 

new vacancies and 51 commitments to upskilling existing staff from our employer 

network. 

Over £1m of in-kind support was also secured to deliver maximum value. 

The Skills City campus consists of training directly provisioned by two of the largest 

technology platforms in the world, Amazon Web Services (Cloud) and Unity (3D 

Immersive / Gaming), has the world’s largest cyber organisation, a unique black women 

software engineering programme, the regions two foremost widening participation Higher 

Education institutions.  

Page 98



5 
 

We have secured £100,000 apprenticeship levy transfer from Salford City Council for 

smaller employers to take on new hires. Amazon Web Services also committed to fund 

50 apprentices from their apprenticeship levy transfer. 

New Membership Packages 

We have designed 6 new membership packages: 

- Lounge Membership 

Exclusive membership for the MediaCityUK community and Greater Manchester 

Chamber of Commerce member network. Access to Social7 members-only lounge 

and invitation to all Innovation and Business Growth events* in addition to 20% 

discount on: Innovation Lab services and facilities; Chamber Space venue hire and 

Skills City Talent services. Free of charge. 

 

- Day Pass 

Dedicated desk space on our co-creation floor, with the opportunity to book one or 

more desks, to suit both freelancers and SMEs. Access to Social7 members-only 

lounge and pre-booked Innovation and Business Growth events on day of booking. 

£25 + VAT for non-members. £20 + VAT for members, per person, per day. 

 

- Club Membership (Standard) 

4 x day passes per month 6th floor meeting rooms* 7th Floor Business Lounge 

membership Access to Innovation and Business Growth events. 20% discount on: 

Innovation Lab services and facilities; Chamber Space venue hire; Skills City Talent 

services; additional day passes. 

£80 + VAT per month, per business. 

 

- Club Membership (Virtual Office) 

All Club Membership (standard) benefits along with 2 x additional day passes per 

month and use of The Landing registered address (for business purposes). Perfect 

for growing teams working remotely that are yet to reach the need for a dedicated 

office. 

£150 + VAT per month, per business. 

 

- Hub Membership (Growth Programme) 

Dedicated microbusiness office space with a registered business address at The 

Landing. The Hub Membership (Growth Programme) is designed for start-ups in 

Cyber, Data and AI & Immersive & VR. 12 to 18-month incubation with staircase into 

MCUK Access to Innovation and Business Growth events. 20% discount on: 

Innovation Lab services and facilities; Chamber Space venue hire; Skills City Talent 

services. 

£950 + VAT per month (max 4 person) 

 

- Hub Membership (SME Partner in Residence) 

Dedicated SME office space with a registered business address at The Landing. The 

Hub Membership (SME Partner) is designed for SMEs in Cyber, Data and AI; 

Page 99



6 
 

EdTech; Immersive & VR and other related industries with a tech / digital focus. 6 to 

12-month residency with staircasing into MCUK. Partner Charter to supporting Hub 

activities. 

£1,800 + VAT per month (max 10 person) 

 

Unity Centre of Excellence (CoE) 

The Skills for Immersive Experience Creation: Barriers to growth in the UK Immersive 
Economy Report (2020) outlines a significant skills gap with 65% of companies identifying a 
lack of skills as a significant barrier to their individual growth as a business. 97% of the 
companies surveyed in the report felt that skills were missing in this sub-sector which is 
expected to add £62.5 billion to the UK economy and enhance over 400,000 jobs by 2030.  

Immersive experience production involves creating experiences using virtual, augmented, 

and mixed reality technologies and the demand for real time creators is growing 

exponentially. The Landing’s Unity Centre of Excellence creates a hub for harnessing a 

start-up ecosystem and accelerating industry innovation to support the growth of digital 

technologies across several industries. 

Within the Centre of Excellence, we would look to enable: 

- Building a first-class talent pipeline on Unity Skills to support industry demand and 

future jobs.  

- Align Academic institutions with industry level training to map skill generation with 

industry requirements.  

- Provide a route to upskilling or reskilling with Unity and provide opportunities across 

games, immersive and industrial careers.  

- Support the generation of new start-ups and encourage innovation with Unity.  

- Establish the Landing as a Beacon for the North across Games, Immersive and other 

industries working with Unity. 

The business model: 

- Unity Skills City Academy – 140 Professional Graduates per annum.  

- Unity exams and certifications – exclusive 60% discount to CoE.  

- Train the Trainer Academy for HE and FE.  

- Graduate applied learning, placements, and Industry projects.  

- Start up and Scale Up Tier 1 businesses.  

- Sponsorships and Events.  

- Funded programmes via Digital Catapult, Creative England, and Global Vendors.  

Salford 50 Pledge 

As part of The Landing’s commitment to the Salford community, we will ensure a 

minimum of: 

- 50 young adults supported into high skilled career starts.  

- 50 women trained and recruited into technology and engineering roles.  

- 50 new jobs or apprenticeships created.  

Page 100

https://www.storyfutures.com/news/skills-report
https://www.storyfutures.com/news/skills-report


7 
 

- 50 businesses supported through membership packages.  

- 50 entrepreneurs and business leaders trained.  

- 50 days of mentoring into schools and community. 

 

Page 101



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of meetings held on 20 January (Ordinary), 20 January (Mayoral Installation) and 24 February (Budget) 2021.
	04b Mayoral installation Council 20 Janaury 2021 - Minutes
	04c Budget Council 24 February 2021 - Minutes

	7 Nomination for Office of Ceremonial Mayor 2021/22
	8 Nomination for Office of Deputy Ceremonial Mayor 2021/22
	9 Appointment of Independent Person for Salford City Council
	10 Appointment of an Electoral Registration Officer and Returning Officers and Associated Electoral Matters
	11 Pay Policy Statement 2021/22
	11ii Appx A Final Draft Pay Policy Statement 2021-22

	12 Place for Everyone: A Proposed Joint Development Plan of Nine Greater Manchester Districts
	19 Scheduled Reports from Board Members
	19b The Landing MediaCityUK March 2021


